AGREEMENT NO. 1

BETWEEN

AIR CANADA

AND

THE INTERNATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF MACHINISTS & AEROSPACE WORKERS

CLERICAL

DISTRICT LODGE 140

Effective July 1st 2009

AGREEMENT NO. 1

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ARTICLE SUBJECT

PAGE NO.

	Definitions	1
1	Preamble	2
2	Scope of Agreement	3
3	Hours of Service	4
4	General Holidays	7
5	Overtime	9
6	Minimum Monthly Rates of Pay	11
7	Job Descriptions & Qualifications	
8	Training	15
9	Filling of Vacancies	16
10	Probationary Employees	21
11	Union Management Communications	23
12	Temporary Employees	24
13	Seniority and Company Service	
14	Layoff and Recall	
15	Layoff/Redundancy Pay	
16	Employees' Representatives	35
17	Grievance/Arbitration Procedure	
	& Hearing	
18	Vacations	44
19	Leave of Absence	47
20	Maternity - Reassignment	53
21	Orders in Writing	54
22	Health and Safety	55
23	Employee Benefits	58
24	Modified Work	63
25	Bulletin Boards	64
26	Transportation	65
27	Technological Change	
28	Strikes and Picket Lines	
29	Savings Clause	
30	General Provisions	
31	Deduction of Dues	
32	Attending Court	
33	Expenses	
34	Employee Assistance Program	77
35-38	Intentionally Left Blank	

ARTICLE **SUBJECT**

39 40 Intentionally Left Blank 41 42

LETTER OF **SUBJECT UNDERSTANDING**

1	9-Day Fortnight Guidelines	82
2	Flexible Hours Guidelines	
3	Historical Precedents	84
4	Contracting Out	85
5	Contracting In	86
6	Intentionally Left Blank	87
7	Voluntary Separation	88
8	Mitigation of Staff Reductions	
9	Intentionally Left Blank	

LETTER OF SUBJECT INTENT

1	Work Share Program	. 92
	Certification Amendment	
3	Buy Back of Pension Benefits	. 94

APPENDIX

А

В

SUBJECT

115

November 4, 1999 Letter	115
-	
	November 4, 1999 Letter Memorandum of Agreement 2003 Memorandum of Agreement 2004

PAGE

PAGE

NO.

NO.

PAGE NO.

DEFINITIONS

The following definitions under this section will apply to all provisions covered by this Agreement.

- 1. Mutual Agreement when used in reference between Company and Union shall mean agreement determined on behalf of the Union by an authorized Union representative(s).
- 2. Local Agreement when used in reference between the Company and Union shall mean agreement between an authorized representative of the Local Lodge and local management except as specifically provided herein.
- 3. Calendar Day the twenty-four (24) hour period from midnight to midnight.
- 4. Working Day The calendar day on which a shift commences.
- 5. Base all airport locations in Canada where bargaining unit members are employed.
- 6. Spouse any reference in this agreement to spouse shall also mean common-law spouse as defined in Company policy.
- 7. Laid Off Active Any employee affected by a staff reduction who is forced to move from their classification and status but who remains employed in a position covered by this Collective Agreement.
- 8. Laid Off Inactive Any employee affected by a staff reduction who elects not to or cannot hold a position covered by this Collective Agreement.
- 9. Status When used in this Agreement, refers to type of employee, i.e., permanent full-time, temporary, or laid off.
- 10. Registered Mail When used in this Agreement, refers to mail courier delivery that provides a receipt.

PREAMBLE

- 1.01 The purpose of this Agreement is in the mutual interest of the Company and the employees, to provide for the operation of the services of the Company under methods which will further the continuation of employment under conditions of reasonable hours, compensation and working conditions. It is recognized by this Agreement to be the duty of the Company and of the employees to cooperate fully, both individually and collectively, for the advancement of that purpose.
- 1.02 In making this Agreement, the parties hereto recognize that compliance with the terms of the Agreement and development of a spirit of cooperation are essential for the mutual benefit and public service.
- 1.03 Should a question of interpretation arise from the French and English texts of any Article or paragraph of this Agreement, the language in which the text was negotiated will prevail.
- 1.04 In the event Company changes that the ownership, merges with another Company or changes its Corporate identity, this Agreement shall remain in full force and effect and the certificate issued by the Canada Industrial Relations Board then in effect, shall not be affected in any way, except as otherwise governed or directed by the Board. The Company further agrees to enter into discussions with the Union relative to the protection of employee seniority and other conditions of the Agreement. Failing settlement, Part I -Industrial Relations, of the Canada Labour Code will apply.
- 1.05 If legislation is enacted which has an effect on the provisions of this Agreement or on Company policy which has a detrimental effect on the employees covered by this Agreement, the Union may initiate discussions with the Company regarding methods of alleviating such detrimental effects.
- 1.06 All amendments to this Agreement, and all mutual agreements as required by various Clauses, shall be in writing and signed by both parties.
- 1.07 All new employees shall be provided with a copy of this Collective Agreement by the Company.
- 1.08 Whenever the feminine gender is used, it shall be understood to mean the feminine or masculine gender unless otherwise specifically stated.

SCOPE OF AGREEMENT

- 2.01 The Company recognizes the International Association of Machinists and Aerospace Workers as the sole and exclusive bargaining agent for all the Company's employees in the bargaining unit set forth in the Certification Order issued by the Canada Industrial Relations Board.
- 2.02 The Company agrees that except in work emergency situations or as otherwise provided in this Agreement, it is not intended that work which is normally assigned to bargaining unit employees be performed by management or other staff outside the Union's certification. This provision shall not restrict the ability of management to train employees covered by the scope of this Agreement.
- 2.03 The operation of certain machines and/or instruments as a source of information is essential to certain management duties. The operation of such machines and/or instruments as a part of a management function shall not be construed as management personnel performing bargaining unit work.
- 2.04 Subject to the provisions of this Agreement, the control and direction of the working forces, including the right to hire, suspend or discharge for just cause, to promote or set back in classification, to re-assign, to transfer or to layoff because of lack of work or other legitimate reasons, is vested in the Company, provided that in the exercise of such functions, the Company shall not violate any provisions of this Agreement.
- 2.05 The right of the Company to operate and manage its business in all respects in accordance with its commitments is recognized by the parties subject to the terms of this agreement.

HOURS OF SERVICE

- 3.01 Eight (8) consecutive hours' service exclusive of meal period, shall constitute a day's work for all employees except as otherwise provided herein.
- 3.02 The normal working week shall be one of forty (40) hours exclusive of meal periods and will consist of five (5) consecutive days of work. Except where other shift arrangements dictate, the rest days will be Saturday and Sunday.
- 3.03 In normal circumstances the daily starting and stopping times of work shall not be changed without seventy-two (72) hours' notice with a copy to the local Shop Steward.
- 3.04 The length of meal periods shall be as mutually arranged locally between the Company Officials and the affected employee(s); but in the absence of any agreement to the contrary, the meal period shall be thirty (30) minutes.
- 3.05 The Company shall ensure that all employees are provided with rest breaks during each half of the normal daily hours of work as per Clause

3.06

- (a) Prior to the establishment of any shift arrangement, the matter shall be discussed with the affected employees and the Union. Consideration shall be given to the wishes of the employees in regard to the shift arrangements. As much advance notice as possible, and in no case less than thirty (30) days shall be given to the Union of any anticipated change in shift arrangements.
- (b) Shift schedules developed in accordance with the provisions of this Article shall be posted at the base concerned and same shall not be changed without seventy-two (72) hours notice.
- (c) If an employee is required to change from one shift to another with less than seventytwo (72) hours' notice, she shall be compensated for all shifts worked prior to seventy-two (72) hours from notification at one and one-half (1½) her hourly rate.

3.07

a) Shift arrangements will be established to effectively meet operational requirements. For other than rotating shifts which are equal and like in turn, or shifts as per Clause 3.08 all shifts will be bid once yearly.

An employee wishing to exercise their seniority privilege in order to obtain a preferred start time within their department must submit their request to their local manager (by email), with a copy to their Chief Shop Steward, prior to September 1st. This request must be actioned within 30 days of September 1st.

- b) When work or training requirements necessitate the reassignment of an employee's regular days off, an employee may be required to work a series of days on, with a corresponding series of days off in accordance with the formula below. The reassignment of days off shall be completed at the time of the work schedule change, otherwise overtime rates will apply. In summary, the principle of balancing days worked to days off will be applied to a work schedule change.
 - c) When work requirements necessitate the reassignment of an employee's regular days off, the following formula will apply for determining days worked to days off ratio:

Shift	<u>Ratio</u>		
5 on 2 off	1 day worked 2 days worked 3 days worked 4 days worked 5 days worked	1 day off 1 day off 2 days off 2 days off 2 days off	
6 on 3 off Or 4 on 2 off	1 day worked 2 days worked 3 days worked 4 days worked 5 days worked 6 days worked	1 day off 1 day off 2 days off 2 days off 2 days off 3 days off	
4 on 4 off	1 day worked 2 days worked 3 days worked 4 days worked	1 day off 2 days off 3 days off 4 days off	

3.08 Hours of work arrangements differing from the foregoing provisions, e.g., nineday fortnights (LOU 5) and flexible hours (LOU 6), may be implemented by mutual agreement on a local level between a majority of the affected employees and the Company. Such alternate arrangements may be proposed by either the Company or the representatives of the affected employee group. Any such alternate arrangements mutually agreed to will be detailed in a letter from the Company to the local employee representative of the Union with copies to the Union and to the Labour Relations Department of the Company. Any such arrangement may be cancelled on thirty (30) days notice on the basis of any of the following:

- (a) The arrangement no longer suits the work requirement of the area concerned;
- (b) The majority of the affected employees no longer support the arrangement;
- (c) The arrangement is not as productive as an alternate arrangement.
- (d) Economic reasons.

During the thirty (30) days' notice period both parties will endeavour through joint discussions to find an alternate resolution to the problem. In cases where there is a requirement of the service the existing schedule will remain in effect pending finalization of the case.

3.09 Occasional shift trades may be made by mutual agreement between the affected employees and their supervisor/manager.

GENERAL HOLIDAYS

4.01 Where both the recognized holiday and/or any day designated by the Company for observance of a recognized holiday falls on an employee's scheduled day off the employee shall be allowed a compensating day off to be taken at a time mutually agreed to between the employee and the Company within a period of twenty-eight (28) days after such holiday. If not used within the 28 day period, the day will be added to the employee's time bank at straight time rates.

4.02

(a) The following general holidays:

New Year's Day	- actual
Good Friday	- actual
Victoria Day	- Monday
Canada Day	- actual
Labour Day	- Monday
Thanksgiving Day	- Monday
Christmas Day	- actual
Boxing Day	- actual

shall be observed and scheduled hours shall be paid for at straight time, if not worked, by not reducing the monthly rate of pay outlined in Article 6, providing that the employee is entitled to wages for at least twelve (12) days during the thirty (30) days immediately preceding the general holiday.

(b) In the event of any of the above holidays falling on a Saturday or Sunday where these are the assigned rest days of the employee, the day substituted by the Federal Government shall be observed. Where an alternative day is not set aside by the Federal Government, the Monday following the holiday shall be set aside in lieu thereof.

4.03

(a) Except in the province of Quebec where St. Jean Baptiste day will be observed as a general holiday, one (1) additional day will be granted to permanent employees who have completed at least sixty (60) days of service. This day off will be determined by agreement between the Company and the employee or assigned on thirty (30) days' notice following October 31 in each calendar year.

- (b) This day may be assigned under the thirty (30) days' notice provision up to January 31 in the following calendar year. A day assigned in the above manner will be assigned consecutively with the employee's scheduled rest days.
- (c) In lieu of the assignment in (a) and (b) above, at the employee's option the unused floating general holiday will be placed in the employee's time bank at straight time rates.
- (d) In the application of this Clause a permanent employee will be credited with one (l) general holiday under this Clause if she leaves the service of the Company before March 31 in a calendar year for reasons other than retirement.
- (e) The application of the above is not meant to restrict the utilization of this general holiday before the date specified

OVERTIME

- 5.01 All time worked on proper authority beyond the limits specified in Clause 5.01 hereof shall be paid for as follows:
- (a) For time worked in excess of eight (8) hours or the normal work day, if longer, at time and one-half for all hours.
- (b) Time worked on an employee's assigned rest day or general holiday at time and onehalf, with a minimum of six (6) hours.

5.02

- (a) If an employee is called in advance of her regular starting time, she shall be paid for all such time in advance of her regular starting time at the rate of time and one-half on the minute basis with a minimum of one (1) hour.
- (b) Employees recalled after the completion of regularly scheduled hours of work shall be guaranteed a minimum of two (2) hours pay at time and one-half, or the actual hours worked at time and one-half, whichever is greater.
- (c) All overtime worked will be paid on a minute basis.

- (a) Employees required to work more than two (2) hours beyond their assigned hours of service shall be granted a second meal period of twenty (20) minutes with pay at time and one-half prior to commencing the second tour of duty.
- 5.04 Fractions of one-half cent (¹/₂ cent) and over shall be as one cent (1); fractions of less than one-half cent (¹/₂ cent) shall be dropped.
- 5.05 Overtime work requirements will be filled in the following manner at the time of each occurrence:
- (a) The overtime will be offered to the incumbent(s) of the position.
- (b) If declined in (a), the overtime will be offered, in seniority order, to qualified available employees in the same classification in the department, in the following order: Permanent employee, then Temporary employee.
- (c) If declined in (b), the overtime will be offered, in seniority order, to qualified available employees in the same department.

- (d) If overtime work remains unassigned after the foregoing it will be assigned in reverse order of seniority to the available qualified employees in the same classification in the department.
- NOTE: The foregoing provisions will apply to the extent they are consistent with the Canada Labour Code.

(a) All overtime hours worked will, at the employee's option, and at the time of each overtime occurrence, be credited to an overtime bank at the applicable overtime basis, to a maximum of twenty-four (24) hours or will be paid in accordance with this Article. Once the bank limit is reached, any further overtime worked will be paid out on the subsequent pay period.

Credits in the overtime bank may be either:

- (i) Taken as time off at the employee's written request and at a time mutually agreed to by the Company; or,
- (ii) With two (2) pay periods' notice an employee may request in writing that she be paid out at her current wage rate.

Lost time with the exception of late reporting for work, sickness, Workers' Compensation and leaves of absence will be deducted from the bank.

- 5.07 Should an employee be required to work overtime that would result in less than a ten (10) hour break before the employee's next regularly scheduled shift management will:
- (a) advise the employee that she is not to report to work until ten (10) hours have elapsed without loss of pay; or
- (b) advise the employee to report to work as scheduled in which case she will be paid time and one-half for all hours worked until she has a minimum of ten (10) consecutive hours off duty.

MINIMUM MONTHLY RATES OF PAY

- 6.01 Minimum rates of pay for classifications covered by this Agreement shall be as set out in the tables in Appendix "A".
- 6.02 Advancement in pay within each salary scale shall be automatic on the first day of the pay period following that in which the employee(s) have completed the required service.
- 6.03 Employees shall receive the appropriate salary for a change in classification effective with the date of transfer in accordance with the following:
- (a) Promotion the employee shall receive the salary for the new classification in accordance with the following:
 - (i) not less than the salary provided in the first step of the salary schedule for the new classification; or
 - (ii) the lowest salary in the new classification which will result in an increase of not less than fifty dollars (\$50.00) per month over that being received immediately prior to the date of transfer.
 - (iii)progression in the new salary scale will be based on the date of transfer into the new classification.
- (b) Lateral Move should an employee move to a new assignment with the same salary scale, there shall be no change in salary level, or modification of dates affecting future increment increases.
- (c) Voluntary Move to Lower Salaried Position when an employee is awarded a position with a lower salary scale they will move to the same step on scale and progression in the new salary scale will be based on the date of transfer into the new classification.
- (d) Displacement to a Lower Salaried Position when an employee is required to displace to a lower salaried position, they will move to the step on scale that is closest to, but not greater than, their current salary and will retain their increment date.
- (e) Demoted to Former Position when an employee is demoted to her former position her salary shall be affixed at the appropriate step of the salary scale that would have applied as though the employee had remained in the former position without change.

- (f) Return from a Temporary Upgrade/Downgrade for salary and increment purposes, will be treated as if the employee had never left their permanent position.
- (g) Return from Laid-off Inactive Status When an employee on laid-off inactive status is recalled as per Clause 14.06 she shall be returned to the same salary step as she left, if possible, or the step on the salary scale closest to but not less than that being received immediately prior to her lay-off.
- (h) Return from Laid-off Active Status When an employee on laid-off active status is recalled as per Clause 14.06, she shall return to the greater of:
 - (i) the same salary scale as she left, or
 - (ii) the step on the salary scale closest to but not less than that being received immediately prior to her recall.
- 6.04 Where an employee is injured at work and requires medical attention the employee shall be paid regular earnings for that day. It is understood however that the Company will not be required to make any payment if the employee received compensation for that day from any other source.
- Employees paid second 6.05 will be every Wednesday during their regular working hours. Should the regular pay day fall on a general holiday, payment will be made on the banking day preceding the regular pay day. Where there is a shortage of one (1) day's pay or more in an employee's pay, and the shortage is not as a result of the employee failing to follow established time reporting procedures, a cheque will be issued to cover the shortage as soon as possible, normally within seventy-two (72) hours of notification to the Company. Any other reported shortages will be corrected on the next pay.

- (a) Recovery of pay errors shall be limited to those errors which occurred during the twelve (12) calendar month period immediately preceding the discovery of the error.
- (b) When the error involves a failure to make a required deduction or an overpayment to an employee which is being recovered by the Company, equal deductions shall be taken from the employee's pay over a period equal to the length of time over which the error occurred. However, where an employee's service with the Company is being terminated, all monies due to the Company shall be deducted from the final severance pay cheque.
- (c) Prior to making any deductions under (b) above, the Company will advise the employee in writing of the error, the number of pay periods over which recovery will be made, the amount to be deducted in each pay period and when deductions will commence. This notice must be provided to the employee no later than fourteen (14) calendar days prior to commencement of any deductions. Should the proposed payment schedule place an undue hardship on the employee, the parties will have the right to meet and discuss alternate arrangements.

- (d) When an error involves underpayment or a deduction in excess of the amount required, the employee shall notify the Company of such error and provide any pertinent facts. The Company shall verify or dispute the claim within fourteen (14) calendar days and if verified, a correction shall be input prior to cut off for the following pay period. In the event the claim is disputed, a grievance may be lodged.
- 6.07 An employee awarded a Lead position will continue to progress normally through the pay scale of her classification and in addition she shall be paid a premium of two hundred dollars (\$200) for each month worked in the Lead position. Any wage reduction amount applied to basic wages will also be applied to this premium.

JOB DESCRIPTIONS & QUALIFICATIONS

7.01 The job descriptions and qualifications of all persons under the scope of this Agreement are contained in the Job Classification Guide which shall form part of this Agreement.

Qualifications required for positions covered by this collective agreement shall also be indicated on the vacancy notice posted at the time of the vacancy. In order to be eligible to fill a vacancy the employee must be able to demonstrate they fulfill the requirements of the position.

Some positions may require an interview process. Positions requiring this process will be discussed with the Union, at the Headquarters level, prior to issuing a vacancy notice.

TRAINING

- 8.01 Employees will receive training to meet the requirements of their positions. Courses will be offered "in house" whenever such training is available. Other job related in-house training courses will be provided as required.
- 8.02 Courses will be filled according to requirement and seniority within the department.
- 8.03 Employees requiring training or retraining on software applications for their positions will be provided access to training on line through the applicable tutorial. Computer access shall be provided. Notwithstanding the foregoing, this does not preclude employees from using available training resources to upgrade their skills on their own time.
- 8.04 Details concerning on line courses can be obtained on the Aeronet.
- 8.05 For permanent employees who pursue job related and/or developmental education, for their own job or for future opportunities within the Company, the Air Canada Tuition Reimbursement policy shall apply.

FILLING OF VACANCIES

General Provisions

- 9.01 The Company shall fill vacancies from permanent employees whenever qualified employees are available.
- 9.02 Vacancies will be filled based on qualifications and seniority. Qualifications being sufficient, seniority shall prevail. Positions that require the ability to lead, direct and train shall be filled from the top three senior qualified applicants. A Joint Union/Management selection committee will be formed and consist of the Department Manager, a representative from Employment Services and a designated Union representative or as otherwise mutually agreed.
- 9.03 Career Opportunities Postings shall indicate work location(s), department, title, status, nature of duties, shift requirements (if applicable), required qualifications, type of selection process, closing date and, if temporary, the approximate duration.

The posting will be for a minimum of ten (10) working days. On line Applications with an up-to-date employee career profile must be submitted by 23:59 EST on the closing date. It is the employees' responsibility to ensure all relevant test results and/or course transcripts and language requirements are on file with Employment Services prior to the closing date of the posting.

- 9.04 Employees' qualifications may be tested only when they apply for positions where the qualifications are additional to those of the positions they hold or have held as a permanent qualified employee or, in the case of unqualified successful bidders, have on file with Employment Services. Employees may test in order to place additional qualifications on file.
- 9.05 When more than one (1) vacancy or new position exists at the same time, employees shall have the right to bid on any or all, stating preference. An employee bidding on more than one (1) vacancy shall indicate the order of preference.
- 9.06 Employees bidding on positions must ensure that they can be reached by phone and be available to attend an interview with three (3) calendar days' notice. Successful bidders must accept or reject the offer within two (2) working days and must be available to report to the new position within fourteen (14) calendar days. These time limits may be waived by mutual agreement between the Union and the Company.

- 9.07 Employees filling vacancies shall receive salary adjustments in accordance with Clause 6.03.
- 9.08 Employees will be advised of the effective date and salary range of the new position at the time such position is awarded. The appointment shall be made within fourteen (14) calendar days from the close of the bid.
- 9.09 An employee awarded a position will be transferred either within thirty (30) calendar days after the selection or the effective date of the vacancy whichever is later.

If not transferred she shall be paid at the rate of the present position or the new position whichever is greater, but every effort shall be made to have a transfer made within the time period stipulated above.

In any event, the employee must be transferred no later than sixty (60) days after the date of the notice of selection.

- 9.10 In the event that an employee is offered a position and declines, she will be ineligible for future bids in the same classification and status for six (6) months from the date of verbal offer. This provision may be waived by mutual agreement should extenuating circumstances exist.
- 9.11 Employees awarded permanent positions will be required to complete six (6) months service in that position before being eligible to bid on future vacancies unless the vacancy is in a higher classification and/or merits greater pay. This time limit may be waived by mutual agreement between the Company and the Union.
- 9.12 An employee who accepts a temporary position accepts the position for the stated duration, and shall revert upon completion of the temporary award to her permanent position, except:
- (a) that she may in accordance with Clause 9.17 be awarded any other permanent position that becomes vacant during the course of her temporary position.
- (b) that she may be awarded a longer term temporary vacancy that provides a salary upgrade of fifty (\$50.00) dollars or more from her temporary position.
- (c) that she may be awarded a subsequent temporary vacancy in any classification upon completion of the first.
- 9.13 Should the temporary position be filled by an employee on laid off inactive status, such employee shall revert to laid off inactive status at the completion of the temporary position and shall not be terminated.
- 9.14 Should an employee being the successful bidder on a job find within a period of six (6) months from the date of transfer the job or conditions to be not as represented on the posting she may seek redress through the grievance procedure.

- 9.15 Upon an employee's request to the hiring manager, unsuccessful bidders will be advised verbally as to the reason(s) they were not awarded the vacancy. If desired by the employee, the discussion will be confirmed in writing with a copy to the Chief Shop Steward.
- 9.16 An employee within a classification at a base may be repositioned as required at anytime in order to meet operational requirements. In so doing, employee preference will be taken into account.

Permanent Vacancies six (6) months or more

- 9.17 When filling vacancies with an estimated duration of six (6) months or more, except as noted in Clause 9.20, it will be done in the following order:
- (a) In order of seniority, recall from laid-off status to former employees of the same status and classification at the base in which the vacancy exists.
- (b) Post and fill with a permanent qualified employee.
- (c) Whenever practical, offer to an employee who bid on the position but who does not possess the required qualifications to the level specified. Seniority will be considered along with qualifications. Such employees will however be expected to satisfactorily carry out the full range of duties of the position but for the purposes of bidding, bumping or recall they will not be deemed to possess the full qualifications of the classification by virtue of the award. Should the employee qualify in the interim, her record with Employment Services will be updated accordingly.
- (d) If the vacancy cannot be filled by (a), (b) or (c) above, it may be filled with a qualified applicant in the following order:
 - (i) Employees of other IAM&AW Bargaining Units.
 - (ii) Outside hire.

Temporary Vacancies less than six (6) months

9.18 When filling temporary vacancies with a known duration of less than six (6) months (and vacancies as provided in Clause 9.20) it will be done in the following order:

NOTE: This time limit may be extended by mutual agreement between the Union and the Company.

- (a) In order of seniority, recall from laid off status to former employees of the same status and classification at the base in which the vacancy exists. Notwithstanding the foregoing, laid off employees on active status will only be recalled if such recall results in an increase in pay of a minimum of fifty (\$50) dollars per month, unless the recall is to a former geographical work location.
- (b) as per Clause 9.17(b)
- (c) as per Clause 9.17 (c)
- (d) if the vacancy cannot be filled by (a), (b)or (c) above, the vacancy may be filled with a qualified applicant in the following order:
 - (i) outside hire
- 9.19 Except as noted in Clause 9.20 and unless agreement has been reached between the Company and the Union to extend a temporary position or assignment, when exceeding six (6) months it shall become a permanent position and shall be posted and filled in accordance with Clause 9.17.
- 9.20 Temporary vacancies to cover Child Care Leave as per the Canada Labour Code and any resulting backfilling will be awarded and/or extended for the duration of the said Child Care Leave of an employee, which may be in excess of six (6) months. Such vacancies will not be considered permanent positions.

Temporary Assistance

9.21 An employee shall only be expected to carry out the duties of her classification within her department but this shall not be interpreted to mean that an employee shall refuse to render assistance of a temporary nature as required provided such assistance is not assigned on a regular basis.

Temporary assistance contemplates the fulfillment of the duties and responsibilities of a position irrespective of the presence of the regular employee. Assisting a higher rated employee due to a temporary increase in the volume of work does not constitute a temporary assignment. When temporary assistance is required for one (1) day or more she shall be paid at the higher rate for the duration of the temporary assistance.

Reclassifications / New Positions

9.22 Variations in job requirements may create additional classifications or materially change a position that is within an existing classification. When such material change is proposed by the Union or the Company, the proposal will be jointly reviewed. It is also understood that should the parties have omitted a classification from the classification schedule, the Union and the Company shall establish an appropriate rate of pay. The Union, however, may process any differences in accordance with the procedures contained in Article 17 of this

Agreement. It is understood that changes resulting from such variations will have no retroactive application.

- (a) When a new classification is created under the terms of this Agreement, it will be bulletined and filled in accordance with Clause 9.17(b).
- (b) When an existing position is brought under this Agreement from outside the scope of the agreement and the position is occupied, the incumbent will be offered first right of refusal to the position.
- (c) When an existing position is reclassified upwards, the position shall be filled in accordance with Clause 9.17.
- (d) When an existing position is reclassified downwards, the incumbent will be given the option of being reclassified with the position or exercise her seniority rights in accordance with Article 14.

Special Circumstances

9.23 Where special needs exist, permanent employees within the same classification may apply for a mutual exchange of positions subject to the agreement of the Company and the Local Union(s).

PROBATIONARY EMPLOYEES

- 10.01 A new employee shall not be regarded as a permanent employee until completion of a probationary period of six (6) months consisting of a minimum of one hundred and twenty-six (126) days worked. The probationary period may be extended by mutual agreement between the Union and the Company.
- 10.02 In addition to the right of the Company to discharge a probationary employee for just cause the Company may discharge such employee at any time during the probationary period for failing to meet the standards set by the Company. An employee may be considered to have failed to meet such standards if the employee:
- (a) has been interviewed by the Supervisor/Manager and been told that the work performance is unsatisfactory, and
- (b) has been given notice in writing that within a specified and reasonable period of time work performance must show improvement, and
- (c) work performance continues to be unsatisfactory after such specified time.

A copy of the notice referred to in (b) above shall be given to the Union. A probationary employee who has been discharged for failing to meet the standards shall be advised in writing by the Department Supervisor or Manager, the reasons for such dismissal and the Union shall be copied.

- (a) A probationary employee shall not accrue seniority until the probationary period has been completed, at which time seniority shall be back dated to the commencement of the probationary period.
- (b) Notwithstanding the provisions of Clause 10.02, in the event a probationary employee has been displaced by a permanent employee exercising her bumping rights or in the event a probationary employee's position is declared redundant prior to such probationary employee establishing seniority pursuant to Clause 10.03(a) the probationary employee shall be terminated. In such event the provisions of Article 17 of this Agreement shall not be applicable to the termination of the probationary employee.
- 10.04 Except as provided in Clause 10.03(b) the provisions of Article 17 shall be applicable to an employee during her probationary period.

- 10.05 Employees will not be able to bid within the same classification during their six (6) month probationary period. Should an employee be awarded a vacancy in a different classification during this probationary period, she may carry a maximum of three (3) months service credit toward the probationary period in the new classification.
- 10.06 The Company and the Union agree that the preparation and discussion of written progress reports during an employee's probationary period is essential.

UNION MANAGEMENT CLERICAL COMMITTEE MEETINGS (UMCCM)

- 11.01 It is recognized that meetings between the Company and the Union, at all levels, are essential to the maintenance of good employee relations and the establishment of mutual trust and respect.
- 11.02 The General Chairpersons of District Lodge 140 assigned to work with the Clerical Bargaining Unit and the Clerical Chief Shop Stewards will discuss with Company Headquarters Representatives, overall matters involving policy, interpretation, etc., affecting the whole system. The Committee will meet at least twice but no more than four times each year.

These meetings will also include, as required, matters of mutual concern relating to the Employee Assistance Program, Employment Equity and National Health and Safety Issues. District Lodge 140 Coordinators or Representatives relating to these programs, may be in attendance for the period of time when matters relating to their functions are addressed as an agenda item.

Union Management Clerical Committee Meetings (UMCCM's) referenced in this article shall not be considered as being in lieu of the established grievance procedure.

- 11.03 The National President and Directing General Chairperson, District Lodge 140, or designated representative, shall be the point of contact between the Union and representatives of the Company Headquarters. Where such contacts are through the medium of correspondence, the letters, in all cases, will be addressed to or signed by the above referenced Chairpersons with a copy to the other General Chairpersons.
- 11.04 Any matter initiated by the Company at Headquarters Level for discussion with the Union, shall be handled by the appropriate Company representatives with the General Chairpersons. Any matter of a local nature initiated by a Company representative at a level below that of Headquarters, shall be handled by her with the appropriate Chief Steward/General Chairperson or Shop Steward.

TEMPORARY EMPLOYEES

12.01 There shall be no temporary employees employed while permanent employees are on laid off status at a base, unless such temporary position has first been declined by all qualified laid off employees at the base, who have registered for temporary work. Employees will be advised in the layoff letter that they may register for temporary work when laid off.

12.02

- (a) (i) Temporary employees are persons employed to work a regular schedule not to exceed six (6) months at any one time unless extended by mutual agreement between the Union and the Company.
 - (ii) Temporary employees who cover a vacancy as a result of a Child Care Leave per the Canada Labour Code may exceed the six (6) month limitation specified in (i) above for the duration of that specific child care leave; and shall not be deemed to be a permanent employee as a result of exceeding the six (6) month period as specified in Clause 10.01.
- (b) Except as otherwise expressly provided, temporary employees are covered under the terms of this Agreement.

- (a) If a temporary employee subsequently fills a permanent vacancy she will be given full credit for temporary service towards the six (6) months probationary period providing that the permanent vacancy is in the same classification in which the employee was employed as a temporary employee.
- (b) If a temporary employee subsequently fills a permanent vacancy in a classification other than the one in which the employee was working as a temporary employee, the maximum credit for temporary service towards the probationary period shall be three (3) months.
- 12.04 Union dues shall be deducted from temporary employees in accordance with Article 31.
- 12.05 Temporary employees who become permanent will be given a Bargaining Unit seniority date for continuous employment, which will be established by back-dating the permanent employment date by the number of scheduled hours of work converted into days and months. Employment will not be deemed continuous if the temporary employee, on a voluntary basis, is not employed for two (2) or more consecutive pay periods.

12.06 Except as provided in Clause 12.02(a), or as otherwise mutually agreed, a temporary employee filling a position for more than six (6) months will be deemed to be a permanent employee.

SENIORITY & COMPANY SERVICE

- 13.01 Company Service Company service shall be the date marking the beginning of continuous employment with the Company for permanent full-time employees and shall apply to the following items:
- Vacation entitlement;
- Scheduled advancement in salary;
- Insurance Benefits
- Company Pension
- Sick leave entitlement;
- and any other items that may be referenced in specific Clauses within the collective agreement.

The foregoing items may be affected by any absence in accordance with the specific Clauses contained in this agreement

Temporary employees who become permanent employees will be given their Company Service date for continuous employment, which will be established by back-dating the permanent employment date by the number of hours worked into days and months.

13.02 For positions that have been specified by the parties as having language requirements employees who do not have the necessary language proficiency cannot exercise their seniority rights respecting bumping privileges or filling a vacancy at such locations. They will be permitted to exercise seniority rights to another position not so restricted, subject to their qualifications.

If changes are made to language requirements for specific positions, or if new positions are established with specific language requirements the Company will discuss the need for the specific language requirements with the Union prior to posting the position(s).

13.03 Seniority shall begin to accrue from the date an employee is first placed on the payroll in a position covered by the terms of this Agreement. Subject to other provisions of the Agreement an employee's initial seniority date shall not be affected or altered as a result of a change of classification. Where two (2) or more persons are placed on the payroll in positions covered by this Agreement on the same date their names shall be placed on the seniority list as per Article 13.12.

- 13.04 Except as otherwise noted in this Agreement, bargaining unit seniority is based on scheduled hours of work in a position(s) covered by the scope of this agreement. Bargaining unit seniority shall apply for the following:
 - (i) Promotion or other advancement in rank
 - (ii) Layoffs due to reduction in force
 - (iii) Filling of vacancies
 - (iv) Transfers
 - (v) Bumping as a result of layoff
 - (vi) Recall from layoff
 - (vii) Bidding vacations
 - (viii) Leaves of absence (preference or bidding)
 - (ix) Any other matter not specifically described above.

- (a) When an employee accepts a temporary position in the Company that is outside the scope of this Agreement and not covered by another Agreement, or outside the Company providing she is on authorized leave of absence in accordance with Clause 19.03 (b), the employee shall continue to accrue seniority for six (6) calendar months. To continue to accrue seniority such employee must pay Union Dues on a monthly basis. If the employee does not return on or before the end of the six (6) month period she shall forfeit all accrued seniority credits. During this period the employee shall be able to exercise seniority in accordance with Clause 14.01.
 - (i) Employees returning to positions within the scope of this Agreement shall return to their former position providing:such positions have not been declared redundant; or a senior employee has not exercised bumping rights.
 - (ii) If upon return from above leave of absence an employee is unable to hold their former position as described above then the employee will be offered the provisions of Article 14.
- (b) When an employee accepts a permanent position that is outside the scope of this agreement and is not covered by another labour agreement, she will continue to accrue bargaining unit seniority, for a period not to exceed six (6) calendar months, upon payment of her Union dues. Failure to submit payment of dues within that six (6) month period will result in loss of bargaining unit seniority.

Before the expiration of the six (6) month period, the employee may return to a position within the scope of the bargaining unit providing she is the successful applicant on a posted vacancy.

- (c) In respect of this Clause it is the Union's intent that temporary assignments to Management positions shall not exceed six (6) calendar months except to cover Leave of Absence for Child Care Responsibilities as provided by the Canada Labour Code, Part III.
- 13.06 When an employee accepts a position in the Company which is covered by another labour agreement, she shall continue to accrue bargaining unit seniority and retain all seniority rights for a period not to exceed six (6) calendar months. Before the expiration of the six (6) month period the employee may return to a position within the scope of the bargaining unit providing she is the successful applicant on a posted vacancy or returns to her former position from a temporary assignment.
- 13.07 Notwithstanding the provisions of Clauses 13.05 and 13.06, laid-off inactive employees will continue to accrue bargaining unit seniority for a period of seven (7) years or until such time as they decline recall estimated to last six (6) months or more to all classifications from which they were laid off. Employees laid off prior to June 01, 2003 will begin their seven (7) year period from that date.

- (a) An employee shall accumulate bargaining unit seniority during her normal employment and this seniority shall be maintained and accumulated during:
 - (i) An absence due to an occupational injury while the employee is performing work for the Company.
 - (ii) A leave of absence under Article 16.
 - (iii) A leave of absence under Article 19.
 - (iv) An absence due to illness or injury for a continuous period of up to five(5) years.
 - (v) Layoff subject to the provisions of Clause 13.07 and Article 14.
 - (vi) A position accepted in accordance with Clause 13.05.
 - (vii) A transfer in accordance with Clause 13.06.
- 13.09 Employees shall lose their seniority and their names shall be removed from the appropriate seniority list(s) for any one of the following reasons:
- (a) Voluntary termination of employment with the Company;
- (b) If discharged and not reinstated under the terms of this Agreement;
- (c) If they do not accept recall in accordance with Clauses 14.07 or 14.08.
- (d) If a registered recall letter is returned as undeliverable.

- (a) The Company shall prepare and furnish to the Union to post in accordance with Article 25 as at March 31 and September 30 each year, a seniority list as follows:
 - *1. Full-time employees listed by:*
 - (i) Name
 - (ii) Base
 - *(iii) Seniority date*
 - (iv) Company service date
 - (v) Classification
- (b) Proper notation shall be made on the seniority lists showing employees on leave of absence, laid off or any other status where they retain their seniority rights under the provisions of this Agreement.
- 13.11 Each employee will be permitted a period of thirty (30) calendar days after posting of the list in which to advise in writing the Union and the Company of any omission or incorrect posting affecting their seniority. Where an employee is on vacation, leave of absence or on sick leave at the time of posting of the initial list, she may protest within thirty (30) days after her return to duty.
- 13.12 In the event that more than one employee has the same bargaining unit seniority date, the employee with the longer Company service will be considered senior and in the event of equal Company service, employees will have their seniority placement determined by the following process:
 - a) The last four (4) digits of the employee number, backwards, with the lowest number identifying the more senior employee (0000 being the lowest possible number).
 - b) The last four (4) digits of the employee's Social Insurance Number, backwards, with the lowest number identifying the more senior employee (0000 being the lowest possible number).

LAYOFF AND RECALL

14.01 In all cases of layoff or decrease in the workforce seniority shall govern.

- (a) If there is a reduction in any classification in a department at a base, subject to qualifications being met, the junior permanent employee in that classification and status in the department:
 - (i) Must fill any existing permanent vacancy in the same classification and status at the base.
 - (ii) Must fill any existing temporary vacancy in the same classification and status at the base. Should a permanent vacancy (in the same classification and status at the base) occur while the employee is in the temporary assignment, she will be repositioned to the permanent vacancy. Otherwise, upon completion of the temporary assignment(s) the employee will be served with notice of layoff.
 - (iii) If a temporary assignment in the classification and status at the base from which the employee is being displaced is presently filled by a junior employee, she may assume such temporary assignment for its duration. Prior to the completion of the assignment she will be re-issued a bumping election form. The junior employee will revert to her former position and/or status as if she had completed the temporary assignment; or She must bump the most junior permanent employee within her classification and status at the base. Should a permanent vacancy (in the same classification and status at the base) occur while the employee is in the temporary assignment, she will be repositioned to the permanent vacancy.
 - (iv) If the displaced employee cannot be accommodated as per above:
 - she may displace the most junior permanent employee within her classification (irrespective of status) at any other base; or
 - she may displace the most junior permanent employee in any classification (irrespective of status) at the base for which she is qualified; or
 - she may displace the most junior permanent employee in any classification (irrespective of status) at another base for which she is qualified.

(v) Notwithstanding sub-clauses (iii) and (iv) above, an employee may at anytime forfeit her displacement rights as outlined above and accept layoff with recall rights in accordance with Clause 14.06 or receive severance pay in accordance with Clause 15.02 with no right to recall, in which case her employment record will be closed.

NOTE: For eligibility of layoff pay refer to Article 15.

- (b) No employee will be allowed to bump into another classification to which a higher salary scale applies unless:
 - (i) such employee has previously held the higher paid classification on a permanent basis as a qualified employee;

NOTE: An increase of less than fifty dollars (\$50.00) per month shall not be deemed to be either a higher salary scale or salary range.

- (c) Should the employee elect to bump within the same base or to another base, she must indicate verbally to Employment Services her intention within five (5) working days of notification of layoff and immediately thereafter confirm such intention in writing. Failure to provide written notice will result in forfeiture of displacement rights, and the employee will be laid off.
- 14.03 During a period of layoff an employee shall continue to accrue seniority.
- 14.04 In the event of a layoff an employee affected shall be given as much notice as possible but in any case not less than fourteen (14) calendar days' notice, or pay in lieu of notice.
- 14.05 Whenever the Company intends to lay off a permanent employee(s) the Company shall, whenever practical, offer to all employees in the same classification in the department the opportunity to take a leave of absence without pay for three (3) or more consecutive months, so that the employee(s) who was to have been laid off may retain a position.
- 14.06 Employees shall be recalled in order of seniority within the classification and status at the base from which layoff occurred in accordance with Clause 9.19(a) and 9.20 (a).
- 14.07 Employees laid off due to staff reduction shall, when laid off, file their address and phone number with the Company and thereafter keep the Company and the Union informed of any changes. When recalling an employee to a position, the Company will contact that employee by telephone. Where the employee cannot be reached by phone, notice of recall will be sent by registered mail to the employee's address on record. Employees recalled to a position with an expected duration of six (6) months or more must respond to the Company no later than seven (7) calendar days from the date of recall, i.e., the date of the

verbal offer or the date the written notice was mailed. Employees recalled to a position with an expected duration of less than six (6) months must respond within seventy-two (72) hours. In addition, employees accepting recall must report to work within fourteen (14) calendar days from the date of recall.

NOTE: The reporting date may be deferred for laid-off active employees and employees with bona fide leave entitlements, e.g., maternity/child care leave.

14.08

- (a) If an employee is recalled to a position in a former classification and status estimated to last six (6) months or more and declines such recall, or fails to comply with the provisions of Clause 14.07, the employee shall forfeit recall rights to that classification.
- (b) If an inactive employee is recalled to a position in a former classification and status estimated to last six (6) months or more and declines such recall, or fails to comply with the provisions of Clause 14.07, and does not hold recall rights to any other classification(s), she shall forfeit recall rights and her employment record will be closed.
- (c) Employees recalled to a position with an expected duration of less than six (6) months may decline such recall without forfeiting future recall rights to that classification.

NOTE: Clauses 14.08 (a) and (b) do not apply with respect to backfilling for maternity/child care leave.

LAY OFF/REDUNDANCY PAY

- 15.01 A permanent employee covered by this Agreement who has completed one (1) year of continuous service under this Agreement immediately prior to being laid off through no fault or action of her own including layoff resulting from merger or geographical relocation, shall receive layoff pay as provided in Clause 15.02 subject to the limitations and conditions set forth herein, but she shall receive no layoff pay if any one or more of the following conditions exist:
- (a) She exercises her seniority in order to remain in the employ of the Company or accepts transfer.
- (b) She accepts any other employment with the Company or refuses to accept a job in her own or comparable work and pay classification at her base under this Agreement.
- (c) She fails to exercise her seniority at her base which would enable her to remain in the employ of the Company.
- (d) The layoff is caused by an act of God or a national war emergency.
- (e) The layoff is caused by a strike, lockout or picketing of the Company's premises.
- (f) She is on leave of absence on the effective date of layoff. In the case of an employee on leave of absence due to illness on the date of layoff for her seniority position, these layoff provisions will become effective on the date that she is able and reports for work following termination of such leave of absence.
- (g) Her service is terminated as a result of discipline, retirement, correctable medical reasons or resignation other than as a direct result of or during a layoff.
- 15.02 In accordance with Clause 15.01, layoff pay shall be in accordance with the provisions of the Canada Labour Code.
- 15.03 The employee eligible for layoff pay shall receive such pay starting at the beginning of the regular pay period one (1) year from the time of layoff. Payments for the amount due shall be at regular pay periods and continue until all layoff pay credit is used, except that in no event shall any such pay be due after the effective date of recall by the Company.
- 15.04 Any employee who has been given layoff notice may elect to terminate her employment with the Company rather than exercise her seniority bumping privileges or accepting layoff at the base. In the event that an employee shall be terminated under this provision, she shall receive one (1) week's wages at her regular rate of pay for her regular hours of work in respect of each completed year of continuous employment. In no case shall an employee receive less than two (2) weeks' severance pay to a maximum of twenty (20) weeks' severance pay.
- 15.05 In the event of a base closure, employees will be given the following options:
- (a) Exercise her displacement rights in order to remain in the employ of the Company.
- (b) Accept layoff at the base with layoff pay as per Clause 15.02 and maintain recall rights.
- (c) Sever her employment with the Company and receive severance pay of two (2) weeks' salary for each year of continuous service with the Company to a maximum of twenty-six (26) weeks' pay.

EMPLOYEES' REPRESENTATIVES

- 16.01 The Union will select and designate from the employees such representative(s) as may be necessary for the purpose of representing the employees under the terms of the Agreement.
- 16.02 The Union shall notify the Company in writing of the names of its accredited representatives and the General Chairpersons, and of any changes in the personnel thereof. The Company shall inform the Union in writing of the supervisor's position with whom said accredited representatives and the General Chairpersons shall deal and of any changes in the personnel thereof.
- 16.03 The Company will not discriminate against any employees, stewards or other Union representatives who from time to time represent other employees.
- 16.04 A Steward or any member of the executive is a representative of the Union when dealing with the Company unless she specifically states that she is unable to act as such in a particular situation.
- 16.05 The Company agrees to provide the Secretary Treasurer of the District, every three (3) months, with a list of employees covered by this Agreement showing name, base and classification.
- 16.06 The Company shall provide a list of names of all new hires by status to all Chief Shop Stewards once each month.
- 16.07 The Company will continue to pay the monthly normal straight time salaries of three (3) designated members of the IAM&AW Negotiating Committee while engaged in direct negotiations with the Company. Further membership on the committee will require agreement between the parties and will be at the full cost of the Union.

16.08

- (a) The Company recognizes the importance of prompt handling of Union business such as the handling of grievances throughout the process, negotiations of agreements, and the attendance at Union meetings at various locations. The Company further recognizes the importance of the role of Union representatives in carrying out the functions of the Union.
- (b) It is therefore agreed that Union representatives will be granted reasonable time off for the purpose of carrying out such functions. This time will be allowed as promptly as possible consistent with service pressures. In order to facilitate this process, it shall be the responsibility of the Union to afford as much notice as possible of such needs to the respective supervisors.

- (c) The Company agrees to provide transportation for Union representatives for Company and/or Union business in accordance with Company policy.
- 16.09 No employee shall suffer any loss of pay as a result of attendance at meetings with management personnel as contemplated by the terms of this Agreement.
- 16.10 When the Union appoints or elects employees covered by this Agreement to attend conventions or conferences such employees may be granted leave of absence without pay by the Company, consistent with service pressures. Such leave shall not be unreasonably withheld. The procedure under this Clause shall be:
- (a) The Company shall continue to pay the employee as though working, and
- (b) The Union shall reimburse the Company for those hours not actually worked upon receipt of a proper account.
- 16.11 On request from the Union, leave of absence for a maximum of four (4) years for full-time Union work shall be granted without pay. Upon completion of the Union work within the four (4) year limit, the employee shall be returned to the former position held or one of equal status or pay. Employees granted leave of absence under this provision shall accrue seniority during their absence. This leave as described herein shall be renewable every four (4) years.
- 16.12 Upon request from the Union, the Local Union President or her designate, providing they are covered by this collective agreement, shall be granted a leave of absence for Union business.

All such leave will be taken at a mutually agreeable time, limited to four (4) hours or less per week and shall be without loss of pay or cost to the Union.

- 16.13 The Union District Safety Representative if elected from this bargaining unit will be allowed one (1) hour per day to attend to safety matters at a time mutually agreeable to the supervisor, and as much time as required to assist a Company Safety Official in accident investigation.
- 16.14 Chief Shop Stewards shall be provided with time off with pay as follows:
 - (a)Where there are less than twenty-five employees covered by this agreement at a base, the Chief Shop Steward shall receive two (2) hours per week.
 - (b) Where there are more than twenty five (25) but less than two hundred and fifty (250) active employees covered by this agreement at a base, the Chief Shop Steward shall receive six (6) hours per week.

(c) Where there are more than two hundred and fifty (250) active employees covered by this agreement at a base, the Chief Shop Steward shall receive forty (40) hours per week.

Such time off will be arranged with local management. Office space shall be provided by the Company in Vancouver, Montreal and Toronto.

- 16.15 The Company agrees to consider specific requests for special shift arrangements for Union Representatives subject to operational requirements.
- 16.16 An employee granted leave under Clause 16.12 will be continued on the Company benefits package as per past practice, with the Union paying the premiums.

GRIEVANCE / ARBITRATION PROCEDURE AND HEARING

For the purposes of this Agreement a grievance is defined as any difference between the Company and the Union and/or those parties on whose behalf this Agreement was entered into concerning the interpretation, application, administration or alleged violation of this Agreement.

The parties recognize that in the best interests of the Union, the Employees and the Company the emphasis in this Article should be placed on resolving complaints at the lowest possible level and in an expedited manner.

17.01 INDIVIDUAL/GROUP and Discipline GRIEVANCES

Individual or group grievances arise when an employee, or employees, believe her or their rights as set out in the Collective Agreement have been violated.

Step One

A meeting to resolve the issue will be held between the shop steward, employee(s), and the Company within ten (10) working days after the occurrence or awareness of the situation causing the complaint. If the parties are unable to resolve the complaint, a grievance will be filed.

Step Two

Within ten (10) working days of receipt, the Chief Shop Steward will meet with Local Management for potential resolution.

If resolved by all parties, the grievance shall be concluded in writing at that meeting.

If the parties are unable to resolve the grievance, it will be forwarded immediately to District Lodge 140 and Labour Relations along with all relevant documentation.

Step Three

Within ten (10) working days of receipt of the grievance, District Lodge 140 will advise Labour Relations whether the grievance is to be discontinued or will proceed to arbitration.

17.02 POLICY GRIEVANCES

Any matters affecting the Union, or matters of interpretation, or any subject in which the Union or Company may have an interest, could be the subject of a policy grievance. Such matters shall be initiated at step two of the grievance procedure.

GENERAL

- 17.03 All time limits mentioned in this Article will be full calendar days and exclude Saturday, Sunday and General Holidays.
- 17.04 The parties may waive any step in this procedure and/or extend the time limits by written agreement. If an extension is requested, the time limits will be frozen until such time as a written response is received. Should either party exceed the time limits set out in this Article, the other party may initiate proceedings to the next level.
- 17.05 A grievance/arbitration will normally be processed at the base where the affected employee is stationed or in the case of a policy grievance, at the base where the grievance was initiated, unless such arrangements would unduly affect the schedules of the representatives involved in the grievance/arbitration process, or, unless both parties agree that costs involved in processing such grievance/arbitration would be prohibitive.
- 17.06 If the parties cannot reach agreement on a resolution of the dispute at the final step of the grievance, the case will be referred to arbitration per the following:
- (a) An Arbitration Board per procedures in Clause 17.07, or
- (b) Agreement between the parties to submit the dispute to a single Arbitrator, or
- (c) Agreement between the parties to submit the dispute to an Expedited Arbitration process as follows:
 - (1) Location of hearings will be agreed to by the parties and in most cases will be held at the nearest major base to where the grievance arose.
 - (2) Grievances shall be presented by a designated representative of the Union and a designated representative of the Company (i.e., not outside representatives such as lawyers).
 - (3) All presentations are to be short and concise with:
 - (i) Comprehensive opening statement dealing with the facts and provisions of the collective agreement upon which reliance is placed.
 - (ii) Limited use of precedental authorities.

(iii) Parties endeavoring to conclude cases within one working day.

Nothing in the foregoing limits either party from introducing all the evidence they believe relevant to this case.

- (4) Decisions will be:
- (i) Rendered verbally to parties within three (3) working days of hearing.
- (ii) Confirmed in writing within two (2) calendar weeks of hearing.
- (iii) The written decision shall set forth a brief explanation of the facts and the terms of the Agreement and/or law, relied upon for the decision.
- (iv) Without precedent or prejudice to future proceedings unless otherwise agreed by the parties.
- (v) Binding on both parties.
- (vi) Consistent with the terms of the Agreement.
- (5) Fees and expenses of the Arbitrators shall be shared equally by the parties.

It is understood that changes to this procedure may be made at any time by agreement between the parties. Additionally, the hearings will be governed by the following guidelines which can be amended by agreement between the parties at any time.

- (1) A brief of pertinent documents will be jointly presented to the Chairperson.
- (2) If possible a statement of agreed to facts will be jointly presented to the Chairperson.
- (3) Responses to opening statements will cover any facts which are in dispute and any additional facts available.
- (4) The hearing will be conducted in an informal manner with limited objections by the parties and without concern for procedural irregularities.
- (5) Hearsay evidence and extrinsic evidence will be allowed to be entered without objection from the opposing party and given the appropriate weight by the Chairperson.
- (6) Witnesses will only be used to enter evidence relative to facts in dispute or for expert explanations and their testimony will be guided to the issues of fact.
- (7) Arguments will be presented only to points in issue.
- (8) Case authorities will be limited to the airline industry whenever possible and will go only to points at issue.
- (9) Mediation of the issue by the Chairperson will be permitted if the parties both agree, but the parties must have authority to settle the issue at the table.

17.07 If an Arbitration Board is desired the Union will notify the Company in writing within five (5) days of receipt of the decision from the final step. The notification will include the name of the Union representative who will act as one of the Board members. Within seven (7) days of the receipt of this notice the Company will notify the Union in writing of the Company nominee chosen to sit on the Board.

As soon as possible after the receipt of this last notice the two (2) representatives shall meet and endeavour to reach agreement on the selection of a third member who shall act as Chairperson. Should the representatives fail within five (5) days to agree on a Chairperson the Minister of Labour for Canada shall be requested by the above mentioned representatives to appoint to the Arbitration Board a third member who shall act as Chairperson. After the Arbitration Board has been formed by the foregoing parties it shall meet and hear evidence of both parties and render a decision within sixty (60) days after the appointment of the Chairperson or such longer period as may be mutually agreed upon. A majority decision shall constitute the decision of the Board but failing such a majority the decision of the Chairperson shall govern. The decision rendered shall be final and binding on both parties.

The award shall be stated in writing and furnished to the Company and the Union. The Board of Arbitration shall not have jurisdiction to establish new provisions or to change by its decision in whole or in part the provision of the existing Agreement.

Witnesses who are deemed by the Union to be essential to their case presentation, excluding the arbitration process, and whose participation will not unduly interfere with the service of the Company will be granted time off with pay for a time sufficient to permit them to participate.

At any arbitration hearing, the Union may have the assistance of the employee or employees concerned and any necessary witnesses and they will be granted the necessary time off without pay.

For involvement in grievance or arbitration hearings, transportation over the Company lines shall be provided in accordance with Company policy.

Location of hearings will be agreed to by the parties and in most cases will be held at the nearest major base to where the grievance arose.

The fees and expenses of the Arbitrator or the Chairperson of the Arbitration Board shall be equally shared by the parties. The fees and expenses of the Arbitration Board representatives shall be paid by the respective parties.

17.08 All meetings between Company representatives and representatives of the Union will be held by appointment during regular working hours without loss of time to representatives of the Union. If the Union representatives call such meetings, overtime will not be paid.

When investigations are held and employees are required to make statements on matters affecting the Agreement, Company working rules or compensation, a Union representative will be present.

17.09

- (a) No discharge or disciplinary action shall take place prior to the Company giving the employee the opportunity to have her case presented at a hearing. Notification of such hearing shall be given in writing within fifteen (15) days of the time when the Company became aware of the incident. The notification shall be given to the employee and the shop steward; except that in the absence of the employee such notification shall be given to the shop steward and a copy mailed to the employee's last known address. Before proceeding with the hearing, the employee shall be advised of her right to have a Representative of the Union present. If no Union representative is available the hearing shall be postponed.
- (b) If as a result of the hearing it is decided to discipline but not discharge an employee, the employee and the Union shall within two (2) days be given a written statement detailing the precise charges and the imposed disciplinary action. If such disciplinary action involves loss of pay, the pay loss shall not take place until the employee has exhausted all of her appeal rights under this Article.
- 17.10 If as a result of the hearing, the Company decides that a discharge should be considered, it may suspend the employee with pay pending discharge for a period not to exceed five (5) days for the purpose of further investigation. Within the five (5) days the Company shall complete its investigation and advise the employee and the Union in writing of the nature of, and the reasons for the disciplinary action to be taken, including discharge.
- 17.11 Following the lodging of a grievance the parties agree that no material information related to the resolution of the matter grieved will be withheld from the other party throughout the grievance / arbitration procedure.
- 17.12 If it is agreed at any stage of Article 17, except Arbitration that:
- (a) An employee has been disciplined, suspended or discharged without just cause, the Company shall reinstate the employee without loss of pay and seniority and the employee shall have all references to the matter removed from all files. A reinstated employee shall be paid all wages due less amounts earned during the time lost; or
- (b) If there is just cause, the discipline, suspension or discharge may be upheld or an alternate disciplinary action deemed more appropriate to the offense may be substituted.
- 17.13 All stages of this discipline and discharge appeal procedure shall be carried out on the Company's property unless otherwise mutually agreed.

- 17.14 If witnesses or Company employees are requested to attend any meetings or hearings as referred to in Clauses 17.09 or 17.10, they shall be granted time off with pay for a time sufficient to permit them to appear. Transportation over the lines of the Company shall be provided in accordance with Company Policy. The number of witnesses shall not be greater than the number which can be spared from the operation without interfering with the service of the Company.
- 17.15 A copy of all correspondence relating to discharge or discipline shall be sent to the designated Union representative and Labour Relations.
- 17.16 All warning letters and reprimand letters shall be considered as a form of discipline and shall be subject to the provisions of the grievance procedure outlined in Clause 17.01.
- 17.17 In the event that no disciplinary action has been taken during the intervening period, letters of reprimand or discipline that are twelve (12) months old or more, will be removed from the employee's personnel file.
- 17.18 All hearings shall be scheduled to commence between the hours of 0900-1600 on weekdays (i.e., Monday to Friday inclusive) and every reasonable effort will be made to schedule such hearings during the employee's scheduled working hours. Exceptions to the above will be made when the employee is unavailable due to assignment, sickness, vacation, etc.
- 17.19 It is agreed that employees covered by this Agreement will not be required or allowed to impose disciplinary action upon other employees covered by this Agreement. However, this provision is not intended to prevent an employee giving relevant evidence at hearings and investigations.
- 17.20 If a stenographic report is taken during a hearing / investigation by either party to this Agreement, the other party will be furnished with a copy.

VACATIONS

18.01 For the purpose of calculating and recording annual vacations a "vacation year" has been established. The year begins January 01 and ends December 31.

18.02 Vacation entitlement listed below will be increased by one (1) day for each General Holiday that occurs during their vacation period: The employee will During the vacation With the following pay be entitled to: year in which the applicable (subject to employee begins: Clause 23.09): YEARS OF TIME PAY SERVICE **ENTITLEMENT ENTITLEMENT** One (1) to four (4)Two (2) weeks Two (2) weeks regular years (or second to (fourteen (14) earnings or the Canada fourth years) calendar days) Labour Code which-ever is greater. Five (5) to fourteen Three (3) weeks Three (3) weeks regular (14) years (or sixth to (twenty-one (21) earnings or the Canada fourteenth etc.) calendar days) Labour Code whichever is greater.

Fifteen (15) to Twenty-four (24) years	Four (4) weeks (twenty-eight (28) calendar days)	Four (4) weeks regular earnings.
Twenty-five (25) years and over	Five (5) weeks (thirty-five (35) calendar days)	Five (5) weeks regular earnings.

18.03 Employees who have completed less than one (1) year of continuous service by December 31st of each year will be granted vacation leave with pay in accordance with the following chart for each full month of continuous service up to December 31st.

Calendar Days of Vacation with Pay
1
2
4
5
6
7
8
9
11
12
13

Note: A full calendar month of service for vacation purposes will be credited if an employee commences Company service on the first working day of the month provided all days of the month, before commencement of employment, are statutory holidays and/or regular days off in the employees work cycle.

- 18.04 Employees leaving the service of the Company who have completed thirty (30) days but less than one (l) year of continuous service with the Company, excluding any layoff period or authorized leave of absence, shall be entitled to four percent (4%) of total wages earned during their period of employment as vacation pay.
- 18.05 Employees leaving the service of the Company who have completed one (1) year of continuous service with the Company, excluding any layoff period or authorized leave of absence at a time when an unused period of vacation stands to their credit, shall be paid the amount due them in lieu of vacation calculated to the date of their leaving the service as provided in Clauses 18.01, 18.02, 18.03, or 18.04.

18.06

(a) Before November 1 each year, a vacation entitlement list will be published by the Company.

Each Employee shall bid her vacation within her functional grouping or department at the base or through any other procedure that is mutually agreeable to the affected employees and local management.

Vacation choices will be made as follows:

- 1st choice in by November 1, approved by November 6.
- 2nd choice in by November 8, approved by November 13.
- All other choices in by December 1, approved and posted by December 15.

The number of employees that can be off any given week will be determined by the operational requirements of the functional grouping or department.

- NOTE: Employees who have not made their choice in each selection round will forfeit such choice. Following this process, any outstanding vacation may be assigned.
- (b) Employees may elect to split holidays into one (l) week segments, however, when vacations are split the employee's first preference will be in order of bargaining unit seniority and the awarding of her second and subsequent preference will be in order of bargaining unit seniority only after all employees have made their choice in each selection round.
- 18.07 Employees shall be compensated for vacation at the rate of pay of their regular position except when they have occupied a temporary position for two (2) weeks or more prior to going on vacation. In such cases they will be compensated for vacation at the rate of pay of the position held immediately prior to going on vacation.
- 18.08 The employer shall not defer an employee's approved vacation; nor shall the employee defer her approved vacation without mutual agreement between the employee and the applicable management representative.
- 18.09 Employees who will be absent on vacation for two (2) weeks or more may apply for advance payment of wages due on regular pay days during their vacation period. Such advance payment will be made on their regular cheque preceding their vacation period. Application must be made not later than four (4) weeks prior to the date on which the advance is to be paid.
- 18.10 An employee who is unable to commence her scheduled vacation period due to serious injury or critical illness, including Workers' Compensation, shall be awarded a new vacation period upon return to duty. However, if the employee does not return to duty on or before December 01 of any year, she shall receive pay in lieu of vacation earned but not taken.
- 18.11 An employee who moves voluntarily to a new position, work location or base after the vacation list is posted shall not be allowed to exercise her seniority to disrupt the list but shall accept an open vacation period.
- 18.12 An employee who is repositioned or displaced into a new position, location or base, shall retain her vacation selection or, at her option, change to an open vacation period.

LEAVE OF ABSENCE

- 19.01 Permanent employees who have completed twelve (12) continuous months of full-time service in a position covered by this Agreement will be entitled to five (5) days leave each calendar year with pay at their regular rate in accordance with the following.
- (a) For the purposes of selection of the leave period, the five (5) days of paid leave will either be added to the employee's regular vacation entitlement and selection then made in accordance with the provisions of Clause 18.06 or selection may be made by individual day(s) during the current vacation year with choices subject to local supervisory approval, such approval will not be unreasonably withheld. The employee will make such an election on or before October 1 of each year.

Unused days from the current year not requested or requested and not approved by December 1 will be paid out by year end subject to Clauses 19.01 (b), (c) and (d).

- (b) Following the date on which the required service is completed, new employees will be eligible for the five (5) days paid leave in the calendar year in which they complete twelve (12) months of continuous service in a permanent position providing the twelve (12) months service requirement is completed prior to December 1 of the calendar year.
- (c) If an employee who has established eligibility for paid leave in accordance with this Clause leaves the service or transfers to a position within the Company where she is not entitled to five (5) days paid leave of absence, the five (5) days shall be prorated on the basis of one day's leave for seventy (70) calendar days of service or major portion thereof.

NOTE: Clause 19.01 (c) does not apply to those employees who retire from service with the Company.

- (d) Employees who have established eligibility for paid leave under this Clause and who were absent for more than seventy (70) calendar days in the preceding calendar year for reasons other than compensable injury will have their five (5) days paid leave prorated on the basis of one (1) day's leave for each seventy (70) calendar days of service or major portion thereof.
 - NOTE: It is understood and agreed that the provisions of this Clause have been established in lieu of an additional two percent (2%) on the wage rates.

- 19.02 An employee who is entitled to less than ten (10) working days combined annual vacation and paid leave of absence under the provisions of Article 18 and Clause 19.01 respectively in any calendar year will be granted leave of absence without pay at her request to the extent necessary to give her ten (10) working days free of duty in that year. Such leave may only be taken at a time and in a manner consistent with the regular vacation schedule. This provision will not apply to any employee prior to completion of her probationary period as defined in Clause 10.01 nor to any employee not on the payroll prior to April 1 of the year in question.
- NOTE: The ten (10) working days referred to above will be adjusted accordingly in the case of any employee working under the provisions of Clause 3.08.

19.03 **Personal Leave**

- (a) Employees may be granted leave of absence up to ninety (90) days by the Company without loss of seniority rights. This leave may be extended up to a maximum of one (1) year by local agreement between the Company and the Union.
- (b) An employee absent on leave who engages in other employment will lose her seniority unless special permission has been first obtained from the proper officials of the Company and with the consent of the Union. The terms of the permission must be in writing.
- (c) In the event an employee is granted a personal leave of absence such employee will pay Union dues on a monthly basis directly to the Union.
- (d) An employee may be granted an unpaid leave of absence up to five (5) days by approval of a supervisor in the employee's work area. Requests for such leave must be submitted in writing with reasonable advance notice and will be considered in order of receipt.
- (e) For education purposes only, the Company and the Union may, upon written request from an employee consent to a leave of absence of up to one (1) year without loss of seniority rights. This leave may be renewed by mutual consent of the Company and the Union.
- (f) All leave of absence requests shall be in writing. All requests for extensions shall be submitted not less than two (2) weeks prior to expiry date of original leave.
- (g) Employees returning after personal leave of absence shall return to:
 - (i) Their former position, if the position was not backfilled or if it was backfilled on a temporary basis;
 - (ii) If the position was filled on a permanent basis, the junior position in their status and classification at their base.

- (iii) If upon return from any Leave of Absence an employee is unable to hold a position as described in (i) and (ii) above, then the employee will be offered the provisions of Article 14 Lay-Off.
- 19.04 Leave of absence shall not be granted for the purpose of engaging in work outside of Company service, except in cases of sickness or other exceptional circumstances when made the subject of mutual agreement between the proper Officials of the Company and the General Chairperson.
- 19.05 In the event of a national emergency if an employee is granted leave of absence for the purpose of serving in the Canadian Armed Forces or for the purpose of engaging in essential war work with the government or other employer she shall be governed by the provisions of the Reinstatement in Civil Employment Regulations as amended or other applicable law. Such employee shall retain and continue to accrue seniority and classification service for pay purposes during such absence.

19.06 Compassionate and Special Leave

Employees will be granted a leave of absence with pay on compassionate grounds under the following circumstances:

- (a) Three (3) days with pay when there is a serious illness, serious injury or death of a member of the immediate family.
- (b) One (1) additional day with pay shall be allowed for out of town travel in excess of one hundred and sixty (160) kilometers or two (2) additional days with pay where travel is required outside of North America.
- (c) Any other situation which the supervisor considers to be legitimate compassionate grounds. Any such leave over three (3) days necessitated by distance of travel or granted for any other reason considered by the department head to be valid, shall either be without pay, or vacation credits may be used at the employee's request.
- (d) In addition an employee will be granted a leave of absence with pay for the wedding day of the employee or a member of the immediate family.
- (e) For the purposes of this Article, immediate family means husband, wife, common-law spouse, parents, children, sisters, brothers, person in loco parentis, grandparents, grandchildren, parent-in-law or legal guardian of the employee.

19.07 Maternity and Child Care Leave

Every employee who has six (6) months' service with the Company is entitled to and shall be granted a leave of absence and the following rules shall apply for maternity, parental, adoption and child care leave.

(a) The Company shall not dismiss, suspend, layoff, demote nor discipline, nor deny promotion or training because the employee has applied for leave under these Clauses.

- (b) No employee can be laid off while on leave under Clauses 19.08, 19.09 and 19.10. However, this shall not prevent the Company from laying off active employees who are senior to her during her leave of absence under this Clause.
- (c) Every employee who intends to take a leave of absence under Clauses 19.08, 19.09 and 19.10 shall:
 - (i) Give at least four (4) weeks notice in writing to the Company unless there is a valid reason why such notice cannot be given.
 - (ii) Inform the Company in writing of the length of leave intended to be taken.
 - NOTE: Nothing in the foregoing shall prohibit the employee from returning to work prior to the expiration of the leave of absence as long as a minimum of three (3) weeks' notice is given.
- (d) The Company must inform in writing, every employee who takes leave under Clauses 19.08, 19.09 and 19.10 of every employment bid, promotion or training opportunity for which the employee is qualified. The employee must request this in writing.
- (e) Every employee who takes leave under Clauses 19.08, 19.09 and 19.10 is entitled to be reinstated in the position that the employee occupied when the leave commenced. If for a valid reason the Company cannot reinstate an employee in that position the Company shall reinstate the employee in a comparable position with not less than the same wages, benefits, and same location or awarded a position as per (d) above.
- (f) The pension, health and disability benefits and the seniority of any employee who takes or is required to take a leave of absence from employment under this Article shall accumulate during the entire period of the leave.
- (g) Where a monetary contribution is normally required of an employee for the employee to be entitled to a benefit referred to in (f) above, the employee is responsible for and must, within a reasonable time, pay that monetary contribution.
- (h) For the purposes of calculating the pension, health and disability benefits of an employee who fails to pay the monetary contribution required by (g) above, employment on the employee's return to work shall be deemed to be continuous with employment before her absence.
- (i) For the purposes of calculating benefits of an employee who takes or is required to take a leave of absence from employment under this Article, other than benefits referred to in (f) above, employment on the employee's return to work shall be deemed to be continuous with employment before her absence.

19.08 Maternity Leave

- (a) Where an employee is pregnant that employee is entitled to and shall be granted a leave of absence of up to nineteen (19) weeks which leave may commence not earlier than eleven (11) weeks prior to the estimated date of her delivery and end not later than nineteen (19) weeks following the actual day of her delivery.
- (b) An employee applying for leave under this Clause shall provide the Company with a medical certificate stating expected delivery date.
- (c) The Company shall not require an employee to take a leave of absence because the employee is pregnant. However if an employee is unable to perform an essential function of her job and no appropriate alternative job is available for that employee, that employee may be required by the Company to take the leave but the burden of proving this rests with the Company.
- (d) If an employee is unable to work because of a pregnancy related or unrelated illness she shall be allowed to use her sick leave under this Agreement. This shall not be construed to mean that she shall be allowed sick leave while on Maternity or Child Care Leave.

19.09 Child Care/Adoption Leave

- (a) Every employee who has completed six (6) consecutive months of continuous service with the Company is entitled to and shall be granted a leave of absence from employment as follows:
 - (i) where an employee has or will have the actual care and custody of a newborn child, the employee is entitled to and shall be granted a leave of absence of up to twenty-four (24) weeks in the fifty-two (52) week period beginning on the day on which the child is born or the day on which the child comes into the employee's care; and
 - (ii) where an employee commences legal proceedings under the laws of a province to adopt a child or obtains an order under the laws of a province for the adoption of a child, the employee is entitled to and shall be granted a leave of absence of up to twenty-four (24) weeks in the fifty-two (52) week period beginning on the day on which the child comes into the employee's care.
- (b) Notwithstanding (a) (i) and (ii) above, the combined amount of leave of absence from employment that may be taken by two (2) employees of the Company under this Clause with respect to the birth or adoption of any one child shall not exceed twenty-four (24) weeks.

19.10 Parental Leave

An employee shall be paid at her regular rate of pay up to a maximum of two (2) working days for the following:

- (a) Adoption of her child.
- (b) In the case of a male employee, the birth of his child.

MATERNITY REASSIGNMENT

- 20.01 A pregnant employee who provides the Company with written advice as to her concerns that her working conditions may be physically dangerous to her unborn child or to herself, by reason of her pregnancy, may request to be re-assigned either within her department or the base to other duties covered by the collective agreement.
- 20.02 When an employee requests re-assignment in accordance with Clause 20.01, the Company will endeavour to re-assign the employee, provided the employee has the necessary qualifications to perform the duties involved, and provided that no other employee is involuntarily affected by the re-assignment. The Company may also offer the employee re-assignment to a position outside the scope of the agreement in which case the employee will continue to accrue and retain seniority during the period of such re-assignment.
- 20.03 In the event re-assignment within the scope of the agreement is not possible or practical, or if re-assignment to a position outside the scope of the Agreement is not acceptable either to the Company or the employee, the employee may elect to take an extended maternity leave of absence until the termination of her pregnancy.
- 20.04 An employee who requests re-assignment in accordance with the provision of Clause 20.01 shall also provide the Company with the certificate of a qualified medical practitioner at the same time as she provides the written advice required under Clause 20.01.
- 20.05 For pay purposes, when a pregnant employee is re-assigned in accordance with Clause 20.02, the following rules shall apply:
- (a) If the re-assignment results in two (2) employees assuming each other's duties (i.e., "trading" jobs), and if the employee requesting the re-assignment occupies a higher-rated position than the employee with whom she will be trading jobs, then each employee will be paid at the step in the salary scale of the position assumed which corresponds with the step in the salary scale at which each were paid prior to such re-assignment.
- (b) If the re-assignment results in two (2) employees assuming each other's duties (i.e., "trading" jobs), and if the employee requesting the re-assignment occupies a lower-rated position than the employee with whom she will be trading jobs, then each employee will continue to be paid at the rate of pay which was applicable to the position which they occupied prior to such re-assignment.
- (c) If the requesting employee is re-assigned to a position outside the scope of the agreement, the employee shall be paid the salary applicable to the position.

ORDERS IN WRITING

- 21.01 All orders to an employee involving a promotion, demotion, layoff, leave of absence, recall, and change in pay or classification shall be stated in writing with a copy to the Union and such employee shall be given as much advance notice as possible.
- 21.02 Career Opportunity postings and lists of bids in reply thereto shall be supplied to the Union after vacancies are awarded.

HEALTH AND SAFETY

22.01 The Company shall maintain safe, sanitary and healthful conditions at all its operations pursuant to the Canada Occupational Safety and Health Regulations.

Employees shall comply with the duties and responsibilities specified in the regulations affecting Occupational Safety and Health in the workplace.

- 22.02 The Company will make provisions for the safety and health of the employees during working hours. No employee shall be required to use or work with faulty equipment which poses a safety hazard. An employee noting such faulty equipment shall immediately notify the Supervisor who shall in turn make the necessary correction. The employee may also advise the Union Health & Safety Officer.
- 22.03 An employee may refuse to perform work where she has reasonable grounds to believe and does believe that the particular work is dangerous to her health and safety or the health and safety of another employee. Where an employee invokes their right to refuse under the Canada Labour Code, the Company and the Union shall resolve the problem which initiated work refusal in accordance with the regulations and procedures specified in the Canada Labour Code. The Company shall not take disciplinary action against an employee(s) for refusal to work in accordance with the above.
- 22.04 Employees injured at work will not be required to make accident reports before they are given medical attention, but will make them as soon as practicable thereafter. Transportation as recommended by the First Aid Attendant will be provided by the Company to and from a doctor or hospital if medical care is required.
- 22.05 Each employee has an obligation to bring any situation which in her opinion represents a hazard to the safety and/or health of the employees to the attention of her Supervisor. The employee may also advise her Union Health and Safety Officer who will discuss it with the Supervisor.

Where the Union Health and Safety Officer is not satisfied that the Supervisor has effectively dealt with the situation the matter may be referred to the Joint Safety Committee.

22.06 The Company will not require employees represented by the Union to participate in searches of Company equipment, property or premises in the event of a bomb threat. This understanding does not preclude the voluntary participation by these employees in such searches. However, the Company shall inform the employees that a bomb threat has been reported before requesting the employees to search or service the Company's equipment, property or premises.

22.07

- (a) The Company shall provide First Aid coverage within the workplace as prescribed in the Canada Occupational Safety and Health Regulations.
- (b) All employees selected by the Company and holding a valid First Aid Certification shall be paid a premium of fifteen dollars (\$15.00) per month.
- (c) The Company shall provide First Aid training where necessary.
- (d) Additional training will be provided by the Company to maintain the validity of First Aid certificates.

22.08

- (a) Joint Occupational Safety and Health Committees shall be established and operated in the workplace pursuant to the Canada Labour Code and the Canada Occupational Safety and Health Regulations.
- (b) The Safety Committees will meet monthly to discuss health and safety matters and will be chaired alternately by Union and Company representatives.
- (c) It is agreed that no less frequently than twice annually the Committees will discuss ergonomic concerns and/or pending changes in the employees' workplace and will make recommendations for improvements and/or corrections to Senior Management.
- 22.09 The installation of equipment shall involve consultation with the employees' representatives directed towards assuring that all "ergonomic" factors are dealt with satisfactorily.
- 22.10 If a permanent employee develops a particular and adverse reaction to exposure at a worksite to certain hazardous substances and she provides a medical certificate supporting such condition, the employer shall follow the Canadian Occupational Health and Safety Regulations, Part 10 (ten), Division 1. If there is no other reasonable option which will allow the employee to continue working with such substance, she may elect one of the following options:

- (a) exchange of positions with another employee in the same classification on a voluntary basis;
- (b) mutual exchange of position with another employee in another classification for which both are qualified, on a voluntary basis;
- (c) transfer to any vacancy covered by the Collective Agreement for which she is qualified. She will be paid the rate of pay applicable to the new position;
- (d) leave of absence.

EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

23.01 Pension Plan

The CPAL Pension Plan is established as a continuing policy by Canadian Airlines International, the terms and conditions of which are set out in the Pension Plan Rules and shall not be amended except in accordance with those rules.

Changes to the structure of the plan and improvements to the plan as negotiated in this Agreement are outlined in Letter of Understanding No. 6 and Letter of Intent No. 3.

23.02 UNASSIGNED

23.03 UNASSIGNED

23.04 **Dental Plan**

- (a) The Company will assume one hundred percent (100%) of the cost of a Group Dental Plan. It is understood by both parties that this participation by the Company will not be compounded by any compulsory Provincial or Federal Dental Plan, either in existence or introduced at a later date.
- (b) It is further understood by both parties that the Company is the contract holder of the Dental Plan and that the present benefit level will be maintained.
- (c) Effective the first day of service for employees hired on a permanent basis, , Dental Plan benefits will be paid in accordance with the Dental Association fee schedule of the Province or Territory of residence of the employee. For employees hired on a temporary basis, the Dental Plan benefits will be effective following (6) months of service.
- (d) Payment by the Dental Plan described above for benefits listed under the Preventative Services will be one hundred percent (100%).
- (e) Payment by the Dental Plan described above for benefits listed under Basic Services, will be ninety percent (90%).
- (f) The maximum annual benefit per employee and per listed beneficiary under the Preventative Services, the Basic and the Major Services described above will be one thousand and five hundred dollars (\$1,500.00).
- (g) Payment by the Dental Plan described above for benefits listed under the Orthodontic Services will be fifty percent (50%). The life time maximum benefit per covered member will be \$2,000.00. Orthodontic services are for children under the age of 21 and are payable up to a lifetime maximum of \$2,000.

23.05 Supplementary Health Plan

- (a) The Company will assume one hundred percent (100%) of the cost of an Supplementary Health Plan. It is understood by both parties that this participation by the Company will not be compounded by any compulsory Provincial or Federal Medical Plan, either in existence or introduced at a later date.
- (b) It is further understood by both parties that the Company-is the contract holder of the Supplementary Health Plan and that the present benefit level will be maintained.
- (c) The Supplementary Health Plan will provide coverage for corrective lenses in accordance with the provisions of the vision care rider. The maximum amount claimable during any consecutive twenty-four (24) month period will be two hundred and twenty five dollars (\$225.00).

23.06 Group Life Insurance

- (a) Group Life Insurance coverage for employees coming within the scope of the Agreement will be 30 times monthly basic salary up to a maximum of \$60,000. The Company will pay one hundred percent (100%) of the premiums up to a maximum of fifty thousand dollars (\$50,000.00). The cost of coverage in excess of fifty thousand dollars (\$50,000.00) will be shared 50/50 between the employee and the Company.
 - (b) Employees may purchase supplementary life insurance up to \$200,000 in increments of \$10,000.
 - (c) Employees may elect to change their previous election at any time. Any employee electing increased coverage or making a first election more than 31 days after their date of hire, must submit an Evidence of Insurability document. The Insurance Underwriter will have the power of decision regarding the applicant's insurability.

100% of the premiums will be paid by the employee so electing, however, the premiums will be variable on the basis of age related rates.

23.07 a) Group Disability Income Plan

The Company will provide salary protection for employee's who become disabled (other than occupational).

Maximum monthly insurable earnings four thousand dollars (\$ 4 000.00).

Benefits to be calculated based on gross pay as follows:

- \circ 70% 1st year
- \circ 65% after

0

b) Basic Accidental Death

The Company will pay the full cost of the Accidental Death, Dismemberment and Loss of Use Insurance for the principal sum of \$25,000. The coverage will be in accordance with Company Policy.

23.08 Sick Leave

- (a) A permanent employee absent from work due to illness or injury (other than illness or injury covered by Workers' Compensation) will be allowed sick leave with pay as outlined below.
- (b) Beginning with the fourth month of service with the Company, employees will be credited with one (1) day's sick leave for every two (2) months worked. Such leave will be credited at the end of the month.
- (c) In the first, second and third absences from work due to illness or injury not covered by Workers' Compensation in any calendar year, employees will be entitled to sick leave with pay to the extent of the sick leave credits accumulated by the employee in accordance with (b) above.
- (d) For fourth and subsequent absences from work due to illness or injury not covered by Workers' Compensation in any calendar year, employees will be entitled to sick leave with pay for only the second and subsequent days of such periods of absence, except as provided in (e) below.
- (e) Any employee who has accumulated sixty (60) days or more of sick leave credit at the time of the absence will be entitled to sick leave with pay on all absences due to illness or injury not covered by Workers' Compensation.
- (f) Employees who are suffering from a suitably verified illness which requires recurring treatment will be entitled to all absences related to that illness to the extent of the sick leave credits accumulated by the employee in accordance with (b) above.
- (g) Sick leave will be accumulated to a maximum of seventy-two (72) days.
- (h) The Company may require a doctor's certificate in support of any absence due to sickness or injury. In the event that the Company requires such a certificate it must so advise the employee in time to enable her to consult with a doctor during her illness and such certificates will be at Company expense upon presentation of a valid receipt.

- 23.09 For the purpose of automatic wage progression and vacation pay the following will apply:
- (a) Grace for duration of absence:
 - occupational injury
 - Union leave of absence
 - jury duty

_

- maternity leave
- child care leave
- adoption leave
- NOTE: Notwithstanding the above, the grace period as it affects automatic wage progression will be capped to nineteen (19) weeks for employees on either maternity leave or child care leave or any combination of the two. For the purposes of vacation pay, the seventy (70) calendar day grace period shall apply.
- (b) One hundred and five (105) calendar day grace period:
 - authorized sick leave
 - non occupational injury
- (c) No grace period:
 - layoff
 - suspension
 - personal leave of absence
- 23.10 In the event that an employee is absent due to personal leave of absence, layoff, or suspension the employee may, at her option, continue coverage in all benefit plans except Short Term Disability and Long Term Disability at one hundred percent (100%) cost to the employee for- a maximum of twelve (12) months..

In the event that an employee is absent due to maternity or child care leave the employee may, at her option, continue coverage in the Group Life Insurance plan at one hundred percent (100%) cost to the employee. The employee will also have the option to buy back this period of absence upon return from the leave. Notwithstanding the above all other benefits will be maintained with the current cost sharing arrangement between the Company and the employee.

When an employee is on jury duty the benefits will be maintained with the current cost sharing arrangement between the Company and the employee.

23.11 UNASSIGNED

23.12 Except as provided elsewhere in this Article, an employee who files a WCB claim will be paid directly by the Provincial Worker's Compensation Board once it is accepted. In those cases where the employee has met her onus with respect to proper and timely submission of the correct forms, or cases where the adjudication of the claim is delayed due to the complexity of the claim or as a result of the Company not providing the necessary information in a timely manner, the employee will receive the WCB benefit directly from the Company for a maximum of sixty (60) days or until the employee's claim has been adjudicated, whichever comes first. This period may be extended by mutual agreement between the parties. In these cases, the employee will immediately reimburse the Company the amount owing.

MODIFIED WORK

- 24.01 In the event an employee cannot carry out the duties of her position due to illness or injury (as assessed by a qualified medical practitioner), the Company and the Union will meet to explore work modifications or reassignments. For the purpose of this Article, accommodation refers to both "Modified Return to Work", i.e., graduated return to full duties from a temporary disability, and "Permanent Accommodation", i.e., accommodation of a permanent disability.
- 24.02 Forms of accommodation may include modification of hours of work, job, task, function or combination thereof that a disabled worker may safely perform without risk to herself or others.
- 24.03 Where modified work is available, it is recognized and agreed that provisions of this Agreement may be amended or waived to suit the employee's limitations. The terms of the accommodation including any amendments or waivers of the Collective Agreement will be documented in a Letter of Agreement on an individual basis.

BULLETIN BOARDS

25.01 The Company shall provide bulletin boards or space specifically for the posting of Union information at all locations where bargaining unit employees are employed.

Such notices are to bear the signature of one of the members of the Executive Board.

TRANSPORTATION

- 26.01 When it becomes necessary for an employee to travel to another location in carrying out her duties the Company will supply suitable transportation to the point of assignment and return.
- 26.02 Where necessary the Company agrees to make every reasonable effort to provide transportation between the parking lot and the terminal work area for employees required to report directly to the terminal by utilizing available transport vehicles.

TECHNOLOGICAL CHANGE

- 27.01 The Company and the Union agree that the appropriate Canada Labour Code provisions will apply to technological change.
- 27.02 Technological Change means:
- (a) The introduction by an employer into her work, undertaking or business of equipment or material of a different nature or kind than that previously utilized by her in the operation of the work, undertaking or business; and
- (b) a change in the manner in which the employer carries on the work, undertaking or business that is directly related to the introduction of that equipment or material.
- 27.03
- (a) Where the Company proposes to effect a technological change that is likely to affect the terms and conditions or security of employment of a significant number of bargaining unit employees within a department, the Company shall give notice to the Union not less than one hundred and twenty (120) days prior to the date on which the technological change is to be effected.
- (b) The notice referred to in (a) above shall be in writing and shall state:
 - (i) the nature of the technological change;
 - (ii) the date upon which the employer proposes to effect the technological change;
 - (iii) the approximate number and type of employees likely to be affected by the technological change;
 - (iv) the effect that the technological change is likely to have on the terms and conditions or security of employment of the employees affected;
 - (v) such other information as may be required by regulations.
- (c) A meeting shall be scheduled with the Union within fourteen (14) days after the notice referred to in Clause 27.03(b) has been issued for the purpose of discussing and negotiating such conditions which result from the proposed changes as may affect employees. If the parties are unable to reach an agreement as to the applicable conditions the matter shall, at the request of either party, be submitted to mediation/arbitration within ten (10) working days following the last meeting on the matter.

27.04

- (a) Where technological change may require additional knowledge and skill on the part of permanent employees, such employees shall be given the appropriate training where practical, to qualify employees to retain their employment. A reasonable time will be afforded to employees in which to qualify. Any instruction or training shall be done at the employee's regular rate and during scheduled working hours.
- (b) If by reason of technological change the employee cannot be retrained in accordance with Clause 27.03(a), the employee shall:
 - (i) be given an opportunity to fill any vacancy for which she is qualified in accordance with Article 9 or
 - (ii) follow the procedure as outlined in Article 14.

Any vacancy created as a result of the above, shall then be filled in accordance with Article 9.

27.05

- (a) A permanent employee laid off as a result of technological change who wishes to maintain her Company relationship in accordance with Article 14 will be entitled to the provisions of Article 15.
- (b) A permanent employee laid off as a result of technological change and who no longer desires to maintain employment with the Company will be paid severance pay equal to two (2) weeks' salary for each year of service to a maximum of twenty (20) weeks' salary.

STRIKES & PICKET LINES

28.01 No Strike - No Lock Out

In view of the orderly procedure established herein for the disposition of the employees' complaints, disputes and grievances, the Company agrees that there shall be no lock-out and the Union agrees that there shall be no strike, slowdown or stoppage of work during the term of this agreement.

28.02 Neither the Company nor the Union will discriminate against employees who cross or refuse to cross a legal picket line assembled by another bargaining unit within the Company.

SAVINGS CLAUSE

- 29.01 Should any part or provision of this Agreement be rendered invalid by reason of any existing or subsequently enacted legislation by the Government of Canada, such invalidation of any part or provision of this Agreement shall not invalidate the remaining portions thereof, and they shall remain in full force and effect.
- 29.02 Any matter that is not specifically covered by this Agreement which may affect the employer/employee relationship can be discussed between the General Chairperson of the Union and the appropriate Vice President of the Company.
- 29.03 No provision of this Agreement shall be used to reduce an employee's current wage rate except as otherwise provided in this Agreement.
GENERAL PROVISIONS

- 30.01 An employee leaving the service of the Company will, upon request, be furnished with a letter setting forth her record of employment.
- 30.02 Where the Company's business or a substantial part of the entire assets are sold, the purchaser shall be bound by this Agreement to the same extent as if it had been executed by her.
- 30.03 Any permanent employee based and working in an isolated post shall be entitled to receive northern base allowance.
- 30.04 It is the responsibility of employees to keep the Company informed of their current address.
- 30.05 The Canada Labour Code shall take precedence where there is any conflict between its provisions as amended from time to time, and the Agreement or Company initiated rules or regulations.
- 30.06 Within six (6) months of notice of ratification the Company will be responsible for the translation of this Agreement into French, and such translation will be approved by the Union before the Agreement is printed in book form.

The Company will supply all employees covered by this Agreement with the employee's choice of an English or French Agreement at no cost to the employees. Costs associated with the printing of the Agreement shall be shared equally between the Company and the Union.

Such Agreements will be printed by the Company and will be made available within ninety (90) days of final signing.

30.07 In the event that any employee is late or prevented from reporting for work due to extreme weather conditions or other related conditions (e.g., flood, forest fire), they shall not be discriminated against.

If detained from work on account of sickness or any other cause she must if reasonably practicable, advise her immediate supervisor.

30.08 If an employee who is required to report for duty or is released from duty outside of her regular scheduled hours of work and no public transportation is available or the employee does not have her own transportation available, then, if requested by the employee, the Company will provide suitable transportation either to where public transportation is available or to the employee's home whichever is closer.

- 30.09 The Company shall provide all employees with adequate free parking as close to the employees' working stations as practical at all airport terminal offices.
- 30.10 Employees will be provided with written information on their applicable benefit plans and such information will be updated periodically.

DEDUCTION OF DUES

The Company shall deduct from the pay period which contains the twentieth (20th) day of the month, from wages due and payable to each employee coming within the scope of this Collective Agreement, an amount equivalent to the uniform monthly union dues of the Union, subject to the conditions and exceptions set forth hereunder.

- 31.01 The amount to be deducted shall be equivalent to the regular dues payment of the Union and shall not include initiation fees or special assessments. The amount to be deducted shall not be changed during the term of the Agreement excepting to conform with a change in the amount of regular dues of the Union in accordance with its constitutional provisions.
- 31.02 Membership in the Union shall be available to any employee eligible under the constitution of the Union on payment of the initiation or reinstatement fee uniformly required of all other such applicants by the Local Lodge. Membership shall not be denied for reasons of race, national origin, colour, religion, sex or marital status.
- 31.03 Deductions shall commence on the first pay period which contains the twentieth (20th) day of the month in the month employment last commences in a position covered by this Agreement or such other date as may be mutually agreed to by the Company and the Union, subject to the provisions of Clauses 31.04 and 31.05.
- 31.04 If the wages of an employee payable on the payroll for the last pay period of any month are insufficient to permit the deduction of the full amount of dues, no such deductions shall be made from the wages of such employee by the Company in such month. The Company shall not, because the employee did not have sufficient wages payable to her on the designated payroll, carry forward and deduct from any subsequent wages the dues not deducted in an earlier month.
- 31.05 Only payroll deductions now or hereafter required by law, deduction of monies due or owing the Company, pension deductions and deductions of provident funds shall be made from wages prior to the deduction of dues.
- 31.06 The amounts of dues so deducted from wages accompanied by a statement of deductions from individuals, shall be remitted by the Company to the Union as may be mutually agreed by the Union and the Company, not later than twenty-one (21) calendar days following the pay period in which the deductions are made.

- 31.07 The Company shall not be responsible financially or otherwise, either to the Union or to any employee for any failure to make deductions or for making improper or inaccurate deductions or remittances. However, in any instance in which an error occurs in the amount of any deduction of dues from an employee's wages the Company shall adjust it directly with the employee. In the event of any mistake by the Company in the amount of its remittance. The Company's liability for any and all amounts deducted pursuant to the provisions of this Article shall terminate at the time it remits the amounts payable to the Union.
- 31.08 The question of what, if any, compensation shall be paid the Company by the Union in recognition of services performed under this Agreement shall be left in abeyance subject to reconsideration at the request of either party on fifteen (15) days' notice in writing.
- 31.09 In the event of any action at law against the parties hereto resulting from any deduction or deductions from payrolls made or to be made by the Company pursuant to this Article of this Agreement, all parties shall cooperate fully in the defense of such action. Each party shall bear its own cost of such defense except that if at the request of the Union, counsel fees are incurred these shall be borne by the Union. Save as aforesaid, the Union shall indemnify and save harmless the Company from any losses, damages, costs, liability or expenses suffered or sustained by it as a result of any such deduction or deductions from payrolls.

ATTENDING COURT

- 32.01 Employees required by the Company to attend court or public investigation shall be paid their applicable rates for the time lost as a result of attending court or investigation and shall be reimbursed actual reasonable expenses when away from home. In such cases the witness fees shall go to the Company.
- 32.02 An employee required to perform jury duty, appear for jury selection, or appear as a subpoenaed witness will be paid at her straight time rate. She shall turn over to the Company all monies received from the court or serving party for such service, excluding payment for meals, lodging, transportation, and parking.
- NOTE: It is understood that when subpoenaed as a witness the employee will take all steps reasonably necessary to claim payment of wages from the party requesting the subpoena.

EXPENSES

- 33.01 Expenses payable to personnel for field work, regional relief and training assignments, away from home base, are specified herein for personnel covered by this agreement.
- 33.02 Hotel and applicable per diem, limousine or taxi fare may also be claimed on the basis of actual and reasonable cost involved, including arrival and departure at the point of assignment as well as at home base.
- 33.03 Hotel, plus personal expenses fifty dollars (\$50.00) per day, all inclusive for personal expenses, which includes meals, gratuities, laundry, valet service, etc.
 - (a) Full Day when flight departure is before 4:00 p.m. or when return arrival at base is after 4:00p.m. fifty dollars (\$50.00)
 - (b) Half Day when flight departure is after 4:00p.m. or when return arrival at base is before 4:00p.m.- twenty-five dollars (\$25.00)

Note: For purposes of this allowance a day is said to begin and end at 4:00 a.m. The flight number on which the employee travelled must be recorded on the employee expense claim ACF151, showing the actual departure time and on the day of return, the actual arrival time of the flight.

- 33.04 Where overnight accommodation is not involved, employees will claim reasonable and necessary out-of-pocket expenses only.
- 33.05 Providing the nature of the assignment permits, an employee electing to reside with relatives or friends will be entitled to claim ten dollars (\$10.00) per calendar day in lieu of the cost of a hotel room.
- 33.06 The Company will provide travel insurance for the travel days only in the amount of one hundred thousand dollars (\$100,000.00) for the employees so assigned.
- 33.07 The per diem is primarily applicable within Canada and the Company will continue to establish an appropriate rate for outside Canada as required. In any event, the amount will not be less than the Canadian per diem. For field work, regional relief and training assignments in the United States the per diem specified in 33.03 will be claimed in US funds.
- 33.08 Single room accommodation, in hotels designated by the Company, will be made available for field work, regional relief and training assignments away from base. Where no accommodation can be found in designated hotels, the employee is confined to comparable rates in other hotels.

- 33.09 Where employees are on training assignments away from their base, for more than one week (1), they will allowed downtown hotel accommodations with Company provided transportation.
- 33.10 Daily transportation is not claimable unless special authorization is first obtained locally however, any transportation or allowance provided regularly for local employees, will be made available.
- 33.11 detailed expense accounts will be submitted.

EMPLOYEE ASSISTANCE PROGRAM

34.01.1The parties recognize that Clerical Bargaining Unit members are participants in the IAM District Lodge 140/Air Canada Employee Assistance Program.

SEXUAL AND PERSONAL HARASSMENT

- 39.01 Employees are entitled to work in an environment free of discrimination and harassment. Harassment is prohibited under the Canadian Human Rights Act and sexual harassment is prohibited under the Canada Labour Code. Discrimination and harassment deprive employees of dignity and respect, and are detrimental to a healthy work environment.
- 39.02 Discrimination and Harassment: any conduct, comment or gesture, either overt or subtle, that is likely to be offensive to an individual and can be related to any of the ten (10) grounds of discrimination prohibited by the Canadian Human Rights Act; race, religion, sex, national or ethnic origin, marital status, family status, colour, age, disability, or a pardoned conviction.

Sexual Harassment: means any conduct, comment, gesture, contact of a sexual nature;

- a) that is likely to cause offense or humiliation to an employee; or
- b) that might, on reasonable grounds be perceived by that employee as placing a condition of a sexual nature on employment or on any opportunity for training or promotion.
- 39.03 Right of Employee
 - a) Every employee is entitled to employment free of discrimination and harassment.
 - b) No article in this collective agreement detracts from an employee's rights contained in the Canadian Human Rights Act, Canada Labour Code or the Employment Equity Act.
- 39.04 Responsibility of the Company
 - a) The Company shall make every reasonable effort to ensure that no employee is subjected to discrimination and/or harassment.
 - b) The Company will take appropriate disciplinary action in respect of an employee who subjects any other employee to discrimination and/or harassment.
- 39.05 Complaints of Harassment and Discrimination:
 - a) Complaints of Harassment and Discrimination will be handled in accordance with the provisions of the Company's Workplace Harassment Policy. A copy of the policy is available on the Aeronet.

- b) Before submitting formal harassment complaints, employees who believe they have been harassed or discriminated against are encouraged to do the following:
- Make their objection known to the alleged harasser(s)
- Attempt to resolve the matter.
- Contact their manager if the above steps don't correct the situation, or if the employee feels intimidated.

If the situation can't be resolved at the informal level and the complaint falls under the jurisdiction of the workplace harassment policy, the employee completes a formal complaint form and submits it to the Harassment Office. The formal procedure of the Workplace Harassment Policy will be followed.

c) For complaints of sexual harassment, the Company will not disclose the name of a complainant or the circumstances related to the complaint to any person except where disclosure is necessary for the purposes of investigating the complaint or taking disciplinary measures in relation thereto.

ELECTRONIC SURVEILLANCE

- 40.01 Employee identification cards and electronic surveillance equipment such as closed circuit television or camera equipment installed in areas where employees covered by this Agreement are working will not be used for surveillance of employees on scheduled duty in their assigned work areas, nor will such equipment be installed in employees' lunch rooms or rest areas. Prior to any of this equipment being installed to control access/egress or prior to the Company expanding the use of the employee identification card beyond that of its present use a full discussion will be undertaken between the Union and the Company. The Company will give reasonable consideration to any input from the Union.
- 40.02 Information gathered through any form of electronic surveillance, i.e., VTD, Workload Statistics, telephone systems record, shall not be used to measure productivity for disciplinary purposes against any member of the bargaining unit unless substantiated by other evidence.
- 40.03 Notwithstanding the above, where there are unforeseen circumstances related to a breach of security, the Company will enter into discussions with the Union prior to determining what if any special security measures should be activate.

RENEWAL AND TERMINATION

- 42.01 This agreement shall become effective as of July 1, 2009 and shall continue in full force and effect until March 31, 2011, and shall renew itself without change each succeeding April 1 thereafter unless written notice of intended change is served by either party thereto within the period of four (4) months immediately preceding April 1 in any year.
- 42.02 In the event of notice as provided in clause 42.01, this agreement shall remain in full force and effect while negotiations are being carried on for the arrangement of a further agreement.
- 42.03 There shall be no retroactive application of the terms of the agreement to employees not on the payroll as of April 1, 2011 other than those retired, on leave of absence or on laid-off status.

9-DAY FORTNIGHT GUIDELINES

Where operational requirements permit, 9-day fortnight work arrangements may be established. Scheduled days off will be determined at the local level between the affected employees and management.

1.	Scheduled Working Hours	10 working days = 80.0 hours 80 hours divided by 9 days = 8.88 hours 8.88 hours = 8 hours and 50 minutes						
2.	Vacation Entitlement	Based on a 40 hour calendar week.						
3.	Paid LOA	Shall be valued at 8 hours per day.						
4.	Sick Bank	Accrued at 8 hours for every second month. Usage is based on 8.88 hours per sick day, or, if applicable, a portion thereof.						
5.	General Holidays / Floating General Holidays	Shall be valued at 8 hours per day.						
6.	Time Bank	Repayment options to make up the difference between an entitlement and actual time off for vacations, the one-week LOA, general holidays and floating general holidays shall be established in the local agreements.						
7.	Overtime	As per Article 5, overtime shall be paid for all time worked in excess of 8.88 hours per day unless working on a rest day or general holiday when regular overtime provisions apply.						
8.	Schedule Changes	There will be no switching of scheduled days off without the approval of local management.						
9.	Unexpected Items	Any items not outlined in the above Guidelines will be reviewed by the Company and the Union as they arise.						

FLEXIBLE HOURS GUIDELINES

Where operational requirements permit, flexible hours work arrangements may be established. Core hours, flexible time zones and staff levels will be determined at the local level between the affected employees and management.

1.	Scheduled Working	2	week	pay	period	-	10	days	=	80
	Hours	hou	ırs.							
		Each employee will be responsible for ensuring that eighty							ghty	
		(80) hours of work is completed in each two-week pay								
		period. Any shortages will be made up from the employee time bank or, if there are insufficient hours in the time ban							/ee's	
									time b	ank,
		will be deducted from her pay cheque.								

- 2. Vacation Entitlement Based on a 40 hour calendar week.
- 3. Regular Work Day The basic work day including vacation, general holidays, floaters, paid LOA and sick leave will be eight (8) hours. Upon approval from the respective Supervisor, the employee may work up to nine and one-half (9,5) hours in one day at straight time wages.
- 4. Overtime Overtime will be paid for all hours worked in excess of eighty (80) hours per pay period. However, all time owed is paid back before overtime credits apply.
- 5. Meal Periods Meal periods will be flexible in order to provide time for personal appointments with prior authorization.

HISTORICAL PRECEDENTS

SUBJECT: Canadian/IAM&AW Agreement No. 3 (Clerical) Historical Precedents

It is agreed that upon ratification of Agreement No. 1 all Letters of Understanding, Intent or Agreement, collective bargaining notes, Arbitration awards and all other ancillary documents except those dealing with disciplinary matters, that pertain to any of the donor agreements, will be null and void and have no force and effect, and will not be used as a precedent in interpreting the language of Agreement No. 3.

CONTRACTING OUT

- L4.01 It is recognized that it is mutually desirable that work normally performed by a classification in the bargaining unit not be sub-contracted. However, it is also recognized that it may be necessary to sub-contract a variety of such work for a variety of reasons, such as lack of facilities, lack of capital equipment, lack of Government approval or other expertise or lack of sufficient work to efficiently utilize full or part-time employees. In addition, it is recognized that the Company may, from time to time, have a need to sub-contract work on a temporary basis due to workload or the loss of a facility. In these events the Company will discuss the need with the Union on a local basis prior to proceeding with the contract.
- L4.02 Nevertheless, it is not the intention of the Company to sub-contract work currently performed by the bargaining unit for the purpose of evading the negotiated wages and/or benefits of employees currently working for the Company. Nor is it the intention of the Company to increase the practice of sub-contracting bargaining unit work on a regular basis. The Company will only contract out such work when there is a clear economic advantage to doing so.
- L4.03 Notwithstanding the above, the Company agrees that the introduction of a subcontract will not result directly in the loss of employment of any permanent employees employed at the date of ratification of Agreement No. 2 in classifications affected by the sub-contracting, except when justified by special circumstances.
- L4.04 Should a dispute arise concerning the justifiable special circumstances, as outlined above, the parties agree to refer the matter to Mr. V. Ready on an expedited basis, for a final and binding resolution.

CONTRACTING IN

- L5.01 It is hereby agreed that outside contracts are of increasing importance to the Company and its employees. It is also agreed that the provisions of this Agreement have been negotiated primarily for the purpose of governing working conditions applicable to the Company-owned operations and that it is mutually desirable to have employees doing the Company's business whenever it is economically practicable.
- L5.02 Therefore, it is agreed that, when there is an opportunity to bring in outside contract work, and/or to bring in work of the Company which is currently being sub-contracted, the parties will meet in an effort to make competitive arrangements to enable the IAM&AW to share in the growth of the Company. Such arrangements may include a waiver(s) of the provisions of any terms and conditions of the Collective Agreement.
- L5.03 A joint Union/Management committee may be convened to review manpower requirements and working conditions that will improve the Company's competitive position.
- L5.04 The joint committee will consist of one representative from District Lodge 140 and associated local lodges, a representative from Labour Relations and appropriate other Company representation.
- L5.05 Should the committee mutually agree that adjustments can be made to Articles within this Agreement, any such adjustments would only remain in effect during the term of the successfully solicited outside contracts.

INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK

VOLUNTARY SEPARATION

Voluntary Separation Incentive Program (VSIP) for full-time employees who may wish to retire or otherwise voluntarily separate from employment with Air Canada in order to mitigate the layoff of surplus employees.

- 1. Initial Selection for acceptance for VSIP will be made from employees in the affected classification in the affected department where the surplus has been identified. If insufficient volunteers can be found within the affected classification in the affected department, the Company may consider volunteers in the same classification from other departments at the base.
- 2. Acceptance will be based on bargaining unit seniority within the classification in the affected department. The release date will be based on operational requirements.
- 3. Determination of acceptance of the applications for VSIP will be solely at the discretion of the Company.
- 4. Employees who voluntarily sever will mitigate a layoff (thus preserving employment for another employee) and will be eligible for Employment Insurance in accordance with Employment Insurance regulations.
- 5. The amount of VSIP will be calculated at one (1) week's pay for each completed year of service up to a maximum of twenty (20) weeks.
- 6. For purposes of VSIP calculation, completed year of service shall be defined as including occupational leave, union leave of absence, jury duty, maternity leave, child care leave and pre-natal leave. Time not worked due to non-occupational injury over seventy (70) calendar days, layoff, suspension, personal leave of absence, or strike, will not be included in calculation of years of service.
- 7. Employees who are participants in the IAM pension plan and who would reach a pension milestone may elect to participate in VSIP and remain on the payroll for payment of severance monies associated with the program until the milestone is reached. In these cases the bi-weekly payments would be subject to EIP contributions. Once the milestone is reached the remaining monies will be paid out in a lump sum.
- 8. Employees whose VSIP entitlement would enable them to reach a pension milestone or a twenty five (25) year retiree card, may remain on payroll until the

milestone is reached recognizing that payments would be subject to EIP contributions and once the milestone was reached, the remaining monies would be paid out in a lump sum.

- 9. Employees who elect to remain on the payroll to reach a milestone will be eligible for all benefits at 100% employee cost except for STD, LTD and WCB which are not available.
- 10. Employees who are within forty (40) weeks of normal retirement who are accepted for VSIP will be limited in lump sum payment to one-half the weeks left to retirement, e.g., if an employee has thirty (30) weeks to retirement, VSIP will be equivalent to fifteen (15) weeks' pay.
- 11. In the case of a base closure, the following provisions will apply:
 - Employees at the bases which are closing, who wish to sever will be given two (2) weeks' pay for each year of completed service as defined in provision (6) above, up to a maximum of twenty-six (26) weeks
 - Employees who are within fifty-two (52) weeks of normal retirement who are accepted for VSIP will be limited in lump sum payment to one-half the weeks left to retirement, e.g., if an employee has thirty (30) weeks to retirement, VSIP will be equivalent to fifteen (15) weeks' pay.

MITIGATION OF STAFF REDUCTIONS

Mitigation of Staff Reductions

During discussions for contract negotiations it was agreed that should a staff reduction become necessary during the life of this agreement the Company agrees to make the Deferred Payment Leave Plan (DPLP) (e.g., 80/20, 90/10 or other mutually satisfactory application) and the Long Term Leave of Absence Program in effect from previous staff reductions available to mitigate the layoff.

The Company also agrees to meet with the Union for the purpose of discussing Voluntary Severance Options, Work Share Programs or other means mutually agreeable to the parties in an effort to further mitigate the layoff.

INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK

LETTER OF INTENT NO. 1

WORK SHARE PROGRAM

During negotiations for this agreement, the parties discussed the feasibility of introducing a Work Share Program. Due to the complexity of this matter, the parties agree to meet to finalize discussions regarding the program prior to the expiry of this collective agreement.

Should the need to introduce this program become necessary sooner, as a means to mitigate loss of employment, Work Share will be discussed prior to the layoff of affected employees.

LETTER OF INTENT NO. 2

CERTIFICATION AMENDMENT

- L2.01 The Company agrees to consider proposals from the Union to bring specific positions that are presently outside the Union's certification into scope in those cases where the Union can demonstrate that the position responsibilities do not meet the exclusion criteria as defined by the Canada Labour Code and that the job functions are consistent with the criteria set out in the Union's certifications.
- L2.02 Where the Company is satisfied that the above requirements have been met, it will voluntarily recognize the Union as the certified bargaining agent for the positions in question, and those positions will be subject to Clause L2.04 below.
- L2.03 Should the Parties fail to reach consensus regarding the appropriateness of including a particular position under the Union's bargaining certificate, the Union will have the option of making application to the Canada Labour Relations Board for a ruling.
- L2.04 Where a new classification is established under the Union's certification, the Parties will meet and negotiate wages, benefits and working conditions which will not exceed any of the current provisions of Agreement No. 3, unless otherwise agreed.
- L2.05 If the parties are unable to reach agreement on such matters, the dispute will be referred to mediation/arbitration for final resolution.

LETTER OF INTENT NO. 3

BUY BACK OF PENSION BENEFITS

July 11, 1990

Mr. W. Farrall IAM & AW

Dear Mr. Farrall,

SUBJECT: Buy Back of Pension Benefits

This will confirm our agreement to review the feasibility of establishing provisions in the Pension Plan for the purpose of employees buying back pension benefits (at no cost to the employer or the Plan) for periods of service on furlough or approved leave of absence.

Yours truly,

Bronach R. Cannell Labour Relations Manager

IAM CLERICAL RATES OF PAY (26 week intervals for all steps)

ADMINISTRATIVE SUPPORT AND OPERATIONAL SUPPORT

Assistant coordinator

Step	Hourly	Jul-06 1.00%	Jan-07 0.50%	Jul-07 1.75%	Jul-08 1.75%	Jul-2009 March-2011			
1^{ST}	\$10.61	\$10.716100	\$10.769681	\$10.958150	\$11.149918	\$11.149918			
2^{ND}	\$11.66	\$11.776600	\$11.835483	\$12.042604	\$12.253350	\$12.253350			
3^{RD}	\$12.71	\$12.837100	\$12.901286	\$13.127058	\$13.356782	\$13.356782			
4^{TH}	\$13.76	\$13.897600	\$13.967088	\$14.211512	\$14.460214	\$14.460214			
5^{TH}	\$14.81	\$14.958100	\$15.032891	\$15.295966	\$15.563645	\$15.563645			
6^{TH}	\$15.86	\$16.018600	\$16.098693	\$16.380420	\$16.667077	\$16.667077			
7^{TH}	\$16.91	\$17.079100	\$17.164496	\$17.464874	\$17.770509	\$17.770509			
8^{TH}	\$17.96	\$18.139600	\$18.230298	\$18.549328	\$18.873941	\$18.873941			
Coordinator									
1^{ST}	\$10.87	\$10.978700	\$11.033594	\$11.226681	\$11.423148	\$11.423148			
2^{ND}	\$12.10	\$12.221000	\$12.282105	\$12.497042	\$12.715740	\$12.715740			
3^{RD}	\$13.33	\$13.463300	\$13.530617	\$13.767402	\$14.008332	\$14.008332			
4^{TH}	\$14.56	\$14.705600	\$14.779128	\$15.037763	\$15.300924	\$15.300924			
5 TH	\$15.79	\$15.947900	\$16.027640	\$16.308123	\$16.593515	\$16.593515			
6 TH	\$17.02	\$17.190200	\$17.276151	\$17.578484	\$17.886107	\$17.886107			
7^{TH}	\$18.25	\$18.432500	\$18.524663	\$18.848844	\$19.178699	\$19.178699			
8^{TH}	\$20.00	\$20.200000	\$20.301000	\$20.656268	\$21.017752	\$21.017752			
Senior Coordinator									
1^{ST}	\$13.46	\$13.594600	\$13.662573	\$13.901668	\$14.144947	\$14.144947			
2^{ND}	\$14.58	\$14.725800	\$14.799429	\$15.058419	\$15.321941	\$15.321941			
3^{RD}	\$15.70	\$15.857000	\$15.936285	\$16.215170	\$16.498935	\$16.498935			
4^{TH}	\$16.82	\$16.988200	\$17.073141	\$17.371921	\$17.675930	\$17.675930			
5^{TH}	\$17.94	\$18.119400	\$18.209997	\$18.528672	\$18.852924	\$18.852924			
6^{TH}	\$19.06	\$19.250600	\$19.346853	\$19.685423	\$20.029918	\$20.029918			
7^{TH}	\$20.18	\$20.381800	\$20.483709	\$20.842174	\$21.206912	\$21.206912			
8^{TH}	\$21.79	\$22.007900	\$22.117940	\$22.505003	\$22.898841	\$22.898841			

IAM CLERICAL RATES OF PAY (26 week intervals for all steps)

ACCOUNTING

Coordinator

Step	Hourly	Jul-06 1.00%	Jan-07 0.50%	Jul-07 1.75%	Jul-08 1.75%	Jul-2009 March 2011			
1^{ST}	\$16.24	\$16.402400	\$16.484412	\$16.772889	\$17.066415	\$17.066415			
2^{ND}	\$17.00	\$17.170000	\$17.255850	\$17.557827	\$17.865089	\$17.865089			
3^{RD}	\$17.76	\$17.937600	\$18.027288	\$18.342766	\$18.663764	\$18.663764			
4^{TH}	\$18.52	\$18.705200	\$18.798726	\$19.127704	\$19.462439	\$19.462439			
5^{TH}	\$19.28	\$19.472800	\$19.570164	\$19.912642	\$20.261113	\$20.261113			
6^{TH}	\$20.04	\$20.240400	\$20.341602	\$20.697580	\$21.059788	\$21.059788			
7^{TH}	\$20.80	\$21.008000	\$21.113040	\$21.482518	\$21.858462	\$21.858462			
8^{TH}	\$21.59	\$21.805900	\$21.914930	\$22.298441	\$22.688663	\$22.688663			
Senior Coordinator									
1^{ST}	\$20.93	\$21.139300	\$21.244997	\$21.616784	\$21.995078	\$21.995078			
2^{ND}	\$21.31	\$21.523100	\$21.630716	\$22.009253	\$22.394415	\$22.394415			
3^{RD}	\$21.69	\$21.906900	\$22.016435	\$22.401722	\$22.793752	\$22.793752			
4^{TH}	\$22.07	\$22.290700	\$22.402154	\$22.794191	\$23.193090	\$23.193090			
5^{TH}	\$22.45	\$22.674500	\$22.787873	\$23.186660	\$23.592427	\$23.592427			
6^{TH}	\$22.83	\$23.058300	\$23.173592	\$23.579129	\$23.991764	\$23.991764			
7^{TH}	\$23.21	\$23.442100	\$23.559311	\$23.971598	\$24.391101	\$24.391101			
8^{TH}	\$23.62	\$23.856200	\$23.975481	\$24.395052	\$24.821965	\$24.821965			

CLERICAL AGREEMENT NO. 1 JOB CLASSIFICATION GROUPINGS / LEVELS

ADMINISTRATIVE SUPPORT

OPERATIONS SUPPORT

ACCOUNTING SUPPORT

Assistant Coordinator

Assistant Coordinator <u>N/A (Assistant</u> <u>Coordinator)</u>

Administrative Support Level 1 Administrative Support Level 2 Administrative Support Level 3

Operations Support Level 1 Operations Support Level 2 Operations Support Level 3

Coordinator

Administrative Support Level 5 Administrative Support Level 6 Administrative Support Level 8

Coordinator

Operations Support Level 4 Operations Support Level 5 Operations Support Level 6

Coordinator

Accounting Support Level 2 Accounting Support Level 3

Senior Coordinator

Administrative Support Level 7

Senior Coordinator

Operations Support Level 7 Operations Support Level 8 Operations Support Level 9

Senior Coordinator

Accounting Support Level 4 Accounting Support Level 5

CLERICAL AGREEMENT NO. 1 JOB CLASSIFICATION GROUPINGS / LEVELS (contd.)

ADMINISTRATIVE SUPPORT – ASSISTANT COORDINATOR

BASIC FUNCTION:

To provide general administrative support such as mail distribution, filing, photocopying, preparing correspondence and maintaining records as required.

TASKS / RESPONSIBILITIES:

- Receive, deliver and pick up boxes, data, mail, parcels, etc. on a timely basis
- Process outgoing mail, packages, etc.
- Trace deliveries
- Prepare and maintain records of postage, registered mail, waybills, etc.
- Knowledge of postal regulations and Company mail handling procedures
- Work with minimal supervision
- Sort and distribute mail, correspondence and reports
- Prepare and maintain files, records and documents
- Retrieve/provide information for internal/external customers
- Answer telephones and greet customers
- Operate office equipment
- Process electronic mail
- Order and maintain office supply inventory
- Complete tasks in a timely and accurate manner
- Maintain confidentiality at all times
- Perform multiple tasks simultaneously
- Prepare correspondence on the basis of verbal or written instructions
- Operate specific department/Company software applications or mainframe programs
- Update and input data
- Arrange travel and appointments
- Prepare, maintain and update files, records, documents, manuals, etc.
- Arrange ground transportation for internal/external customers, e.g. taxis
- Arrange for pick-up and receive courier deliveries
- May be required to perform other related duties which do not affect the nature of the job

EDUCATION:

- High School graduation

SKILLS / KNOWLEDGE:

- Good interpersonal skills
- Good communication skills, both written and verbal
- Basic knowledge of Microsoft Office applications
- Proficiency in spelling, punctuation and grammar

EXPERIENCE:

- Minimum 1 year office experience

SPECIFIC REQUIREMENTS:

- Some positions may require lifting,
- Some positions require licenses, e.g. Driver's, MOT, AVOP, etc.
- Some positions may require shift work and/or work staggered starting and stopping times
- Some positions may be required to perform receptionist duties.

** Classifications included: Administrative Support Level 1, 2 & 3.

ADMINISTRATIVE SUPPORT - COORDINATOR

BASIC FUNCTION:

Perform administrative duties of a complex nature requiring initiative and judgment.

TASKS / RESPONSIBILITIES:

- Create tables, graphs, etc.
- Sort and merge documents, reports, etc.
- Edit and proofread
- Work under pressure
- Prepare, maintain and update files, records, documents, manuals, etc.
- Compose correspondence
- Receive and direct all incoming calls
- Provide assistance for outgoing calls, e.g. directory assistance, calling card
- Refer external customers to appropriate areas, e.g. departments, employees
- Arrange ground transportation for internal/external customers, e.g. taxis
- Liaise with internal/external customers
- -Work with minimal or no supervision
- Design, compose, format and produce correspondence, reports and documents using a variety of software applications
- Research data and prepare reports
- Prepare third party billings
- Handle cash/cheques and related documentation
- Verify and process invoices and expenses
- Coordinate and make necessary arrangements for presentations, seminars, training sessions, interviews, etc.
- Organize and prioritize workload
- Comply with Government Regulations, Company Policies and Collective Agreement

In addition to the above, may be required to perform the Tasks / Responsibilities as outlined in Assistant Coordinator Level.

EDUCATION:

- High School graduation

SKILLS / KNOWLEDGE:

- Good interpersonal skills
- Effective communication skills, both written and verbal
- Intermediate knowledge of Microsoft Office applications
- Proficiency in spelling, punctuation and grammar

EXPERIENCE:

- Minimum 2 years office experience

SPECIFIC REQUIREMENTS:

- Some positions may require lifting
- Some positions require licenses, e.g. Driver's, MOT, AVOP etc.
- Some positions may require shift work and/or work staggered starting and stopping times

** Classifications included: Administrative 5, 6 & 8

ADMINISTRATIVE SUPPORT – SENIOR COORDINATOR

BASIC FUNCTION:

Perform complex administrative functions using a variety of software applications. This position requires initiative and judgment.

TASKS / RESPONSIBILITIES:

- Analyze, design, format and produce creative high quality documents, reports, etc.
- Plan, coordinate, and execute road shows, where travel may be required
- Assist with product displays
- Recommend and assist in implementing improved methods and procedures
- Provide on-the-job training and assistance to other employees in the department.
- Maintain confidentiality at all times

In addition to the above, may be required to perform the Tasks / Responsibilities as outlined in Assistant Coordinator and Coordinator Levels.

EDUCATION:

- High School graduation

SKILLS / KNOWLEDGE:

- Good interpersonal skills
- Excellent communication, formatting and proofreading skills
- Intermediate knowledge of Microsoft Office applications
- Proficiency in spelling, punctuation and grammar
- Effective communication skills, both written and verbal

EXPERIENCE:

- Minimum 3 years office experience

SPECIFIC REQUIREMENTS:

- Some positions require the ability to take minutes
- Some positions require Licenses, e.g. Driver's, MOT, AVOP etc.
- Some positions may require lifting.
- Some positions may require shift work and/or work staggered starting and stopping times
- ** Classifications included: Administrative Support Level 7

OPERATIONS SUPPORT – ASSISTANT COORDINATOR

BASIC FUNCTION:

Provide operational and administrative support requiring initiative and judgment.

TASKS / RESPONSIBILITIES:

- Assist in receiving, indexing and revising manuals or data
- Answer phones and greet customers
- Operate office equipment
- Order and maintain office supply inventory
- Complete tasks in a timely and accurate manner
- Work with minimal supervision
- May be required to perform other related duties which do not affect the nature of the job
- Update and input data
- Perform multiple tasks simultaneously
- Operate specific department/Company software applications or mainframe programs
- Prepare, maintain and update files, records, documents, manuals, etc.
- Verify and process invoices
- Prepare correspondence on the basis of written or verbal instruction
- Comply with Government Regulations, Company Policies, Collective Agreements and procedure
- Liaise with internal/external customers
- Maintain, update and revise files, reports and manuals
- Organize and prioritize workload to meet deadlines

In addition to the above, may be required to perform Tasks / Responsibilities:

- Retrieve/provide information for internal/external customers
- Process electronic mail
- Maintain confidentiality at all times
- May be required to perform other related duties which do not affect the nature of the job

EDUCATION:

- High School graduation

SKILLS / KNOWLEDGE:

- Good communication skills, both written and verbal
- Good interpersonal skills
- Basic knowledge of Microsoft Office applications
- Proficiency in spelling, punctuation and grammar

EXPERIENCE:

- Minimum 1 year office experience

SPECIFIC REQUIREMENTS:

Some positions may require lifting Some positions may require shift work and/or work staggered starting and stopping times

** Classifications included: Operations Support Level 1, 2 & 3

OPERATIONS SUPPORT – COORDINATOR

BASIC FUNCTION:

Perform operational and/or administrative duties of a complex nature requiring initiative and judgment.

TASKS / RESPONSIBILITIES:

- Control distribution and maintain Company and technical publications
- Assist other employees in the department
- Receive, index and revise manuals or data
- Maintain a high level of accuracy
- Operate specific department/Company software programs
- Work with minimal or no supervision
- Organize and prioritize workload to meet deadlines
- Work under pressure
- Liaise with internal/external customers
- Prepare correspondence
- Create and prepare spreadsheets
- Validate, update and input data/files, records, documents/manuals
- Verify and process expenses, claims and/or invoices
- Research, resolve, and respond to internal/external customer issues and queries, in verbal and/or in writing
- Administer Collective Agreements
- Research data and prepare reports
- Handle cash, cheques and related documents
- Prepare third party billings
- Arrange travel and appointments
- Develop and maintain schedules
- Maintain confidentiality at all times
- Build, update and maintain schedules and staff rosters
- Maintain and develop accurate maintenance and/or technical records
- Audit records
- Monitor equalization of overtime
- Comply with Collective Agreement, Company policies and procedures
- May be required to perform other related duties which do not affect the nature of the job

In addition to the above, positions may be required to perform Tasks / Responsibilities as outlined in Operations Support – Assistant Coordinator position.
EDUCATION:

- High School graduation

SKILLS / KNOWLEDGE:

- Good communication skills, both written and verbal
- Knowledge of aircraft terminology
- Good interpersonal skills
- Intermediate knowledge of Microsoft Office applications
- Aptitude for math
- Aptitude for accuracy and detail
- Familiarity with Collective Agreements, Company Policies and procedures and/or Government Regulations

EXPERIENCE:

- Minimum 2 years office experience

SPECIFIC REQUIREMENTS:

- Some positions may require lifting and climbing
- Some positions may require shift work and/or work staggered starting and stopping times
- Some positions require licenses (i.e. Drivers, MOT, AVOP)
- Some positions may be exposed to weather conditions

** Classifications included: Operations Support Level 4, 5 & 6

OPERATIONS SUPPORT – SENIOR COORDINATOR

BASIC FUNCTION:

Performs operational and/or administrative duties of a complex nature requiring initiative and judgment. These positions require a high level of accuracy due to consequence of error and fines/penalties to the Company and/or loss of revenue.

TASKS / RESPONSIBILITIES:

- Develop, prepare, and provide statistical reports
- Record and maintain operational records and/or endorsements
- Comply with Company Policies, Collective Agreements and/or Government Regulations
- Liaise with internal and external customers
- Organize and prioritize workload to meet deadlines
- Works with minimal or no supervision
- First level troubleshooter of hardware/software
- Maintain a high level of accuracy due to consequence of error
- Assist with compilation of operating business plan
- Monitor reports, investigate discrepancies and calculate accruals
- Maintain ledgers
- Audit invoices
- Prepare comparative analysis
- Ensure flight crew meals and/or ground allowances are provided
- Process and calculate pay adjustments/expenses
- Compose, format and prepare correspondence
- Provide direction, guidance and assistance to other employees within the department
- Prepare monthly statistical summary of catering expenses
- Maintain monthly record of invoices paid or outstanding
- Prepare cost analysis and statistics
- Maintain computerized meal costing system
- Operate mainframe printers and related equipment
- Prepare and distribute reports to meet production printing deadlines
- Control and monitor printing system to maintain availability, serviceability and reliability
- Monitor printers for quality control
- Retrieve, print and distribute reports
- Coordinate maintenance and up-keep of equipment problems

Task allocation may vary from one department to another

BASIC FUNCTION:

Graphic designer position:

Design and develop a variety of visual communication strategies and products for purposes of marketing, training or communications.

Graphic designer positions perform the following specific Tasks /Responsibilities:

-Create visual communication strategies using specialized software

-Execute those strategies through print, video or interactive mediums.

-Research, recommend and create marketing tools and collateral

-Concept, layout & design of public Annual Reports

-Prepare presentations for Senior Executives for external presentations

-Concept, design and execution for new products and/or Air Canada collateral.

-Manage Corporate Brand for all visual applications.

-Create brands for new products and produce accompanying brand management toolkits

-Design maps for AC internal and external publications, i.e. En Route

-Process invoices and chargebacks for projects.

Training:

Would have completed recognized courses at a University or College level in Graphic Design, with demonstrated expertise in typography, the psychology of color, proving fluent visual literacy through the study of line, perspective, contrast, volume and shape. Should have solid experience in both Print and New Media. Must have extensive knowledge of graphics standards for print, web, and television. Must have strong brand creation and management experience

Software Required:	Adobe Photoshop
	Adobe Illustrator
	Adobe InDesign
	Adobe Acrobat

In addition to the above, all positions may be required to perform the Tasks / Responsibilities as outlined in Operations Support Assistant Coordinator and Coordinator positions.

EDUCATION:

- High School graduation

SKILLS / KNOWLEDGE:

- Good interpersonal skills
- Effective communication skills, both written and verbal
- Intermediate knowledge of Microsoft Office applications
- Proficiency in spelling, punctuation and grammar
- Aptitude for accuracy and detail
- Aptitude for math

EXPERIENCE:

_

- Minimum 3 years office experience

SPECIFIC REQUIREMENTS:

- Some positions may require lifting and climbing
- Some positions may require shift work and/or work staggered starting and stopping times
- Some positions require licenses (i.e. Drivers, MOT, AVOP)
- Some positions may be exposed to weather conditions

** Classification Included: Operations Support Levels 7, 8 & 9.

ACCOUNTING SUPPORT - COORDINATOR

BASIC FUNCTION:

To maintain and process accurate records and accounts related to accounting systems.

TASKS / RESPONSIBILITIES:

- Verify and process invoices
- Operate specific department/Company software programs
- Answer telephones
- Maintain a high level of accuracy
- Organize and prioritize workload
- Work under pressure
- Prepares accruals
- Audit, input and update data
- Reconcile accounts
- Prepare journal entries
- Prepare reports
- Prepare/compose letters
- Research, resolve and respond to internal/external customers issues and queries
- Work with minimal or no supervision
- Maintain, calculate and input information
- Process internal/external payments
- Process internal/external payments
- Handle cash and cheques
- Calculate and process claims
- Prepare and distribute statements
- Verify, calculate and adjust pay claims as requested
- Comply with Collective Agreements, Company Policies and Government Regulations

In addition to the above, all positions may be required to perform the following Tasks / Responsibilities:

- Maintain confidentiality at all times
- May be required to perform other related duties which do not affect the nature of the job
- Data capture airmail documents
- Verify, rate and adjust air waybills/documents

Task allocation may vary from one department to another

EDUCATION:

- High School graduation
- Completion of CGA 101 or equivalent

SKILLS / KNOWLEDGE:

- Good interpersonal skills
- Good communication skills, both written and verbal
- Intermediate knowledge of Microsoft Office applications
- Familiarity with Collective Agreements, Company Policies and/or Government Regulations
- Aptitude for accuracy and detail

EXPERIENCE:

- Minimum 1 year office experience

SPECIFIC REQUIREMENTS:

- N/A

SPECIFIC REQUIREMENTS:

- Some positions may require shift work and/or work staggered starting and stopping times

** Classifications included: Accounting Support Level 1, 2 & 3

ACCOUNTING SUPPORT – SENIOR COORDINATOR

BASIC FUNCTION:

To maintain and process accurate records and accounts related to accounting systems.

TASKS / RESPONSIBILITIES:

- Perform account maintenance and follow-up functions in conjunction with the Accounting Services Agreement
- Maintain accounting systems tables
- Assist other departments with respect to accounting policies, procedures and systems
- Prepare reports to support the monthly financial statements
- Prepare and analyze data for ad hoc financial reports
- Provide leadership, direction and training to other employees within the department
- Analyze and verify documents
- Prepare audit working papers
- Prepare statistical/special reports
- Reconcile and deposit cheques and cash
- Organize and prioritize workload to meet deadlines
- Work under pressure
- May be required to perform other related duties which do not affect the nature of the job

In addition to the above, may be required to perform the Tasks / Responsibilities as outlined in the Coordinator Level.

EDUCATION:

- High School graduation
- Completion of CGA 211 or equivalent

SKILLS / KNOWLEDGE:

- Good interpersonal skills
- Effective communication skills, both written and verbal
- Intermediate knowledge of Microsoft Office applications
- Aptitude for accuracy and detail
- Familiarity with Collective Agreements, Company Policies and/or Government Regulations

EXPERIENCE:

- Minimum 2 years office experience

SPECIFIC REQUIREMENTS:

- Some positions may require shift work and/or work staggered starting and stopping times

** Classifications included: Accounting Support Level 4 & 5

LEAD POSITIONS

BASIC FUNCTION:

Responsible for the guidance, on the job training, motivation and assistance to all designated staff. Perform senior technical duties in the role of Lead. Must maintain strict confidentiality at all times. Works in a team environment.

TASKS / RESPONSIBILITIES:

- Provide guidance, on the job training, motivation and assistance to all designated staff
- Organize and prioritize workloads to meet deadlines
- Perform senior technical duties in the role of Lead
- Maintain performance standards for quality and quantity of work produced
- Recognize needs and deficiencies within the group and request additional resources as applicable
- Act as first line of communication with internal/external customers in order to ensure that potential problems are recognized and dealt with immediately
- Liaise with all levels of staff
- May act as Supervisor in the absence of the incumbent
- Maintain strict confidentiality at all times

SKILLS / KNOWLEDGE:

- Comprehensive knowledge of Company and Department Policies and procedures
- Excellent technical skills as required for the assignment
- Proven leadership and organizational skills
- Excellent interpersonal skills
- Effective communication skills, both written and verbal

EXPERIENCE:

- Minimum 3 years experience with Air Canada

SPECIFIC REQUIREMENTS:

- Some positions may require shift work or staggered starting and stopping times
- **NOTE:** Lead positions are posted locally within the affected departments and will be awarded from the top three senior qualified applicants in accordance with clause 9.02 of Agreement No. 1

WITHOUT PREJUDICE OR PRECEDENT

November 4, 1999

Dave Ritchie, General Vice-President in Canada (IAMAW) 15 Gervais Drive, Suite 707 North York, ON M3C 1Y8

Dear Mr. Ritchie,

In addition to the commitments outlined to you by Robert Milton on November 01, 1999 and subject to agreement by you and the IAMAW, Air Canada is prepared to table the following considerations and commitments.

- A) Voluntary recognition of the IAMAW as the sole bargaining agent for employees of the new low-cost airline employed in similar functions to those identified in the IAMAW Collective Agreement. The Union recognizes and acknowledges that the mandate of the new airlines is one of low-fare/low-cost and that this will be given due consideration in the development of the terms and conditions of a new collective agreement between the new Company and the IAMAW.
- B) Wage rates at Canadian Airlines be brought back to pre-1996 book rates effective with the first pay period in January of 2001.
- C) Effective January 1, 2001 wage rates for Canadian employees will move to 50% of the wage differential between similar active classifications and categories as outlined in the Air Canada Collective Agreement.
 - Note: Where wage scales and job classifications do not align, the parties will meet to agree on how best to achieve this alignment.
- D) Effective January 1, 2002 Canadian employees will move to full Air Canada wage rates involving similar active classifications and categories as outlined in the Air Canada Collective Agreement.

E) The parties will sign a Letter of Intent agreeing to a contract extension of three (3) years effective June 23, 2002 with the following provisions:

Wage increases will be:

2.5% effective June 23, 2002 2.5% effective June 22, 2003 2.5% effective June 20, 2004

- F) In conjunction with the effective date of the annualized wage increases, wage increases will be subject to further negotiations if:
 - i) Other bargaining agents (CAW, ALPA, ACPA or CUPE) have negotiated higher percentage wage uplifts.

And/or

- ii)The Consumer Price Index of the previous year exceeds the above wage increases by more than 1% for any of the three (3) calendar years referenced above.
- G) The parties further agree to incorporate any and all other mutually agreed-to items in this Letter of Intent.
- H) Any and all other issues not resolved by this letter of intent will form part of the normal bargaining agenda and process subject to the following:
- I) Any matters that are not resolved through direct collective bargaining will be referred to an agreed-to mediation process for resolution prior to either party applying for conciliation and/or exercising strike/lockout provisions of the Canada Labour Code. The right to strike with respect to wages is limited to the normal collective bargaining process that will occur at the termination of the current collective agreement (June 22, 2002) if either of the "triggers" identified in item F apply. Should the conditions of item F trigger additional discussions with respect to wages during 2003 and 2004, and given that there is a Collective Agreement in place, then the Union will not resort to strike action related to such further negotiations regarding wages.
- J) The Letter if Intent will have the full recommendation of the Union and is subject to ratification by Canadian Airlines employees.

K) All other terms and conditions of the Canadian Airlines agreement, with the exception of wage outlined in C and D, will remain in force and be extended until June 22, 2002 unless otherwise mutually agreed to.

In consideration of all the above, the IAMAW at Canadian Airlines agrees and undertakes to remain neutral in their preference to either the ONEX proposal or the Air Canada solution in this current industry restructuring.

As part of this agreement the IAMAW agrees and undertakes that they will neither initiate nor support a common employer or sale of business application against Air Canada should the Air Canada proposal for the industry restructuring prevail.

Your earliest response to these initiatives would be appreciated.

Yours truly,

P.J. Heinke Senior Director, Labour Relations

Cc: Robert A.Milton, President and Chief Executive Officer, Air Canada

MEMORANDUM OF AGREEMENT

BETWEEN AIR CANADA ("Air Canada")

AND

INTERNATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF MACHINISTS AND AEROSPACE WORKERS

CLERICAL COLLECTIVE AGREEMENT ("The Union" or "IAMAW")

WHEREAS a number of factors have created a financial crisis in the airline industry in general, which have resulted in Air Canada having to seek protection under the Companies' Creditor Arrangement Act (CCAA);

AND WHEREAS this Memorandum shall confirm the agreement by the parties to a full and complete resolution of all outstanding issues raised between the parties during this round of negotiations;

AND WHEREAS this Memorandum shall also be subject to ratification by the respective principals of the parties. Once ratified, the Collective Agreement shall be in effect until June 30th, 2006. It is further agreed to extend the modified collective agreement until July 01st, 2009 in accordance with the Letter of Intent dated May 29th, 2003;

Accordingly, the parties agree as follows:

- 1. Reduce all wage rates by 1.5% effective June 08, 2003 and cancel the 2.5% increases for June 22, 2003 and June 201 2004. Introduce a Profit-Sharing Program for all employees covered by the Air Canada / IAMAW Clerical Collective Agreement.
- 2. The current Air Canada/IAMAW Collective Agreement will be amended to reflect all changes as specified in Appendix "A".
- 3. The parties agree that the current Air Canada Pension Plan as provided for employees covered by the Air Canada/IAMAW Collective Agreement will remain unchanged. The Unions agreed to cooperate with the Company in its representation to OSFI respecting the amortization of the funding deficit over ten (10) years.

- 4. The proposed changes to the benefits programs involving premium sharing by employees, which will be applicable to all employees of the Company, are subject to Union approval.
- 5. Non-application of Group Termination notice: The parties agree that the layoff of employees represented by the IAM&AW resulting from the restructuring of the airline under the CCAA have been the subject of full discussions and negotiations between the parties and forms part of the agreement reached under this Memorandum of Understanding. As a consequence, the parties further agree that Sections 214 to 226 of the Canada Labour Code do not apply to those layoffs.
- 6. The Company and the Union agree and commit, subject to the requirements of the Canada Labour Code, that the attached Letter of Intent constitutes the renewal of the Collective Agreement between Air Canada and the IAMAW and shall continue as expressed in the Letter of Intent.

Signed this 29th day of May, 2003 at Toronto, Ontario.

FOR AIR CANADA	FOR the IAMAW
K.P. Smith	J. Coller
P. Hass	L. Ferguson Marsh
	Lynda Barr

R. MacLachlan

MEMORANDUM OF AGREEMENT BETWEEN

AIR CANADA AND THE INTERNATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF MACHINISTS AND AEROSPACE WORKERS (CLERICAL)

As a result of Air Canada entering CCAA on April 1st, 2003 the Company and the Union agreed to Memorandums of Agreement dated May 27th and May 29th, 2004 that provided for \$175.2 in savings for the Company that was part of an overall \$1.1B labour cost savings required in order to exit CCAA.

In March, 2004 the Company determined that it was \$200M short of the anticipated savings. The portion that was attributed to the IAMAW Clerical unit was calculated to be \$100,000.

Following discussions, the parties have agreed to the following, as credited by the attached term sheet (Attach 1), subject to ratification of the Agreement by the membership of Transportation District 140 – Clerical.

- 1. Amend Article 15 language to reflect layoff pay to be paid one (1) year after a final layoff date, and as per layoff pay under the Canada Labour Code.
- 2. This Agreement is subject to ratification of the membership of the IAMAW (Clerical), the process of which will be completed as soon as possible. All terms and conditions of this Agreement will take effect upon a common date of all certified bargaining units and non-union personnel as determined by the Monitor.
- 3. This agreement shall be effective upon Air Canada confirming to the undersigned and to Deutsche Bank that the non-union employees of Air Canada and Jazz have met the reduction targets as communicated and that all Air Canada and Jazz unions met their cost reduction targets as communicated in order to satisfy the May 15, 2004 conditions of the Stand-By Purchase Agreement. This condition shall be conclusively deemedto be satisfied upon Deutsche Bank and GE confirming their acceptance that the cost reduction and clean slate conditions have been satisfied.
- 4. The clean slate certificate is conditional upon completion of the Stand-By Purchase Agreement and the successful emergence of Air Canada from CCAA.
- 5. Air Canada through its Executive Vice-President Paul Brotto shall provide to the undersigned union a copy of each of the term sheets and MOA's for all Air Canada and Jazz union and non-union employee groups along with the estimated cost savings identified for each group as well as Mr. Brotto certifying, in his capacity as an officer

of Air Canada and, without personal liability, that each group has met its target savings based on the underlying assumptions and methodologies employed. The above information material, documents and certifications are provided exclusively so that the undersigned union can satisfy itself as to whether each employee group has met its target savings and for no other purpose.

- 6. The Company agrees to pay, subject to the Monitor's approval, all fees and expenses for legal, actuarial and benefits advisors incurred by the IAMAW in connection with the CCAA restructuring process which commenced in April 1st, 2003.
- 7. This Agreement is subject to Air Canada concluding with all of its other Canadian Certificated bargaining agents and non-union personnel, agreements that each meet their respective share of the required cost reduction in the above-referenced purchase agreement.

Signed this 15th day of May, 2004.

For Air Canada	For the International Association Of Machinists & Aerospace Workers – Clerical
K.P.Smith	L. Ferguson March
P. Hass	L. Barr
	R. MacLachlan